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We achieved record net income and double-digit growth in loans, deposits, earnings per share and 

book value per share in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, despite significant headwinds from rising 

interest rates, high inflation in goods and services, and turmoil in the banking industry that resulted in 

the failures of certain regional banks. We maintained strong capital, credit quality, liquidity and asset- 

liability management by staying focused on our long-term strategic and operational initiatives. Our 

initiatives include, but are not limited to, diversifying our sources of lending, deposits, and fee income, 

taking advantage of market dislocations to enhance growth, returns and talent, continuous process  

improvement across every functional and business unit, and allocating capital to businesses that  

generate the best risk-adjusted returns. These initiatives have helped us avoid the asset-liability  

mismatches and margin compression that other banks experienced when rates rose quickly  

from 0% to over 5% and market liquidity reversed from an excess to a deficit position.

 

Axos Bank increased ending loan balances by almost 17% and ending deposit balances by over 20% in 

fiscal 2023. We positioned our balance sheet to be slightly asset sensitive by maintaining loans that have 

shorter duration, floating rates to match the funding in our interest- and non-interest-bearing deposit 

base. This resulted in our net interest margin expanding by 22 basis points to 4.35% and net interest 

income increasing by 29%, both well above our peers.  

DEAR FELLOW STOCKHOLDERS:
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>  90% of total deposits were insured/bonded 

>  No overnight borrowings from FHLB, borrowings from discount window and BTFP 

>  $232 million AFS Securities + $0 HTM Securities at 6/30/2023 

>  $9.3 million unrealized loss on AFS securities portfolio; 0.5% of shareholders’ equity 

>  $1,917 million total stockholders’ equity



The securities segment generated approximately $60 million of pretax income in fiscal 2023,  

up significantly from a $2.4 million loss in fiscal 2022. As we anticipated when we acquired the clearing and 

custody businesses, rising interest rates provided a significant tailwind to their profitability. With over 

$20 billion of consolidated assets and over $34 billion of assets under custody and/or administration  

at Axos Securities, we believe we have sufficient scale and diversity to maintain our  long-term 

growth and return objectives.The diversity of our lending, deposits and fee income continues to  

serve us well. Strong growth in our C&I lending and moderate growth in our single-family jumbo 

mortgages helped offset declines in auto lending and single-family warehouse loan balances. Our 

ability to generate double-digit loan growth is a byproduct of incubating and scaling our real estate and 

non-real estate lender finance, commercial specialty real estate and other commercial lending verticals 

over the past several years, as rising interest rates reduced competition from bank and non-bank  

lenders. Our methodical approach in growing our asset-backed lending businesses with the same  

low loan-to-value philosophy we used in our single-family jumbo mortgage and multifamily mortgage  

businesses gives us confidence that we will be able to maintain credit losses at a manageable level 

through this credit cycle, as we have in prior cycles.

 

Strong growth in consumer deposits resulted in a 23% increase in checking and savings deposit  

balances, representing 92% of our total ending deposit balances at June 30, 2023. We have a granular 

and diverse deposit base across a variety of consumer and commercial banking and securities 

businesses. In addition to the $17 billion of deposits on our balance sheet, we had approximately  
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$600 million of deposits at partner banks through Axos Securities’ businesses, as well as an additional 

$700 million of deposits at partner banks through Zenith’s business management business. With  

normalization of cash-sorting deposit balances in Axos Advisor Services (“AAS”) and a cyclical low  

in our Axos Fiduciary Services  (“AFS”) deposit balances nearing trough levels, we are optimistic  

in our ability to grow non-interest-bearing deposits. 

Non-interest income increased by $7 million to $120 million, with higher fees from Axos Securities 

offsetting declines in mortgage banking income. The combination of robust net interest income 

growth, net interest margin above the top end of our long-term target, and higher profitability  

from our securities businesses has resulted in Axos pulling away from our competition.  

Our strong profitability and excess liquidity and capital allow us to reinvest in existing and new  

businesses while opportunistically acquiring teams and businesses and buying back our stock at  

an attractive valuation. We believe our investments in technology,  

infrastructure and talent will contribute significantly to growth and 

earnings. In our consumer bank, we are focused on adding new 

features and functionality to our proprietary Universal Digital Bank 

(“UDB”) platform to enable a better user experience, a more seamless  

set of functionalities between our deposit, lending and securities 

products, and better data for cross-selling. We are also making  

good progress with our white label consumer banking platform  

for registered investment advisors (“RIA”) and introducing broker 

dealers (“IBD”) that custody and clear through Axos. We believe the 

ability to distribute our banking products to over 300,000 affluent investor clients of our RIA and IBD 

clients will become a tremendous competitive advantage. We launched UDB 2.0 in August 2023 and 

anticipate launching a beta version of our white label banking for advisors in the next 6 to 12 months.
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In commercial banking, we are automating additional back-office workflows across a variety of  

business and functional units. We believe that optimizing client onboarding and servicing across our 

commercial banking businesses will help us increase our operating efficiency and allow us to scale 

much faster. We continue to invest in modernizing our AFS and Zenith software solutions to make our 

products more integrated and easier to use. Additionally, we onboarded several new teams in existing 

and new commercial lending and deposit verticals over the past six months. We expect these new  

team members to contribute meaningfully to deposit and loan growth in the next few quarters.

We generated a 17.2% ROE and 1.6% ROA in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. We achieved these 

returns despite rising deposit costs and holding excess liquidity on our balance sheet. We repurchased 

approximately $49 million of common stock in the last two quarters of fiscal 2023 at an average share 

price of approximately $37 per share. With a healthy loan pipeline and excess capital, we are able to 

grow profitably and invest in our future. We took advantage of market dislocations during the  

Great Financial Crisis to accelerate our strategic and operational initiatives. Those investments  

generated significant excess returns to our shareholders. We are excited to deploy a similar  

playbook and judiciously invest in this current cycle to maximize future returns.

Sincerely,

 

Greg Garrabrants 

President and CEO  
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “report”) to the “Company,” “us,” “we,” “our,” “Axos Financial,” or 
“Axos” are all to Axos Financial, Inc. and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. References in this report to “Axos Bank,” the 
“Bank,” or “our bank” are to Axos Bank, one of our consolidated subsidiaries.
This report may contain various forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and as such, may involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements 
can be identified by the use of terminology such as “estimate,” “project,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “believe,” “will,” or 
the negative thereof or other variations thereof or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy that involve risks and 
uncertainties. Forward-looking statements also include the assumptions underlying or relating to any of the foregoing 
statements. 
Forward-looking statements are subject to significant business, economic and competitive risks, uncertainties and 
contingencies, many of which are difficult to predict and beyond the control of Axos or the Bank, which could cause our actual 
results to differ materially from the results expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements. These and other risks, 
uncertainties and contingencies are described in this report, including under “Item 1A. Risk Factors”, and the Company’s other 
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) from time to time. Readers are cautioned not to place 
undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report. All forward-looking statements 
are qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any 
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All written and oral forward-
looking statements made in connection with this report, which are attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by the foregoing information.

RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. The following is a summary of certain material risks and uncertainties 
facing our business. This summary is not a complete discussion of the risks and uncertainties affecting us. A more complete 
discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties is set forth under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this report. Additional risks 
not presently known to us or that we presently deem immaterial may also affect us. If any of these risks occur, our business, 
financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

◦ Changes in interest rates, including recent increases to interest rates;
◦ General economic and market conditions, including the risk of a significant and/or prolonged period of inflation or 

economic downturn;
◦ Changes in the value of securities in our investment portfolio;
◦ The soundness of other financial institutions;
◦ Replacement of the LIBOR benchmark interest rate;
◦ Changes in regulation or regulatory oversight, accounting rules, and laws, including tax laws;
◦ Policies and regulations enacted by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau;
◦ Changes in real estate values;
◦ Possible defaults on our multifamily residential loans;
◦ Mortgage buying activity of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac;
◦ Financial and credit risks associated with commercial and industrial and commercial real estate loans;
◦ Seasonal fluctuations in mortgage origination;
◦ The adequacy of our allowance for credit losses;
◦ Changes in the value of goodwill and other intangible assets;
◦ The effectiveness of our risk management processes and procedures;
◦ Higher FDIC assessments could negatively impact profitability;
◦ Our broker-dealer business and investment advisory business;
◦ Our ability to access the equity capital markets; 
◦ Access to adequate funding;
◦ Our credit ratings;
◦ Our ability to manage our growth and deploy assets profitably;
◦ Accuracy of customer information;
◦ Competition for customers from other banks and financial services companies;
◦ Our ability to maintain and enhance our brand;
◦ Reputational risk associated with any negative publicity;
◦ Failure or circumvention of our controls and procedures;
◦ Extreme weather conditions, a natural disaster, rising sea levels, acts of war or terrorism, civil unrest, public health 

issues, or other adverse external events;



◦ Increased regulation related to Environmental, Social and Governance factors;
◦ Our ability to retain the services of key personnel and attract, hire and retain other skilled managers; 
◦ Possible exposure to environmental liability;
◦ Our dependence on third-party service providers for core banking and securities transactions technology;
◦ Privacy concerns relating to our technology that could damage our reputation or deter customers from using our 

products and services;
◦ Risk of systems failure and disruptions to operations; 
◦ Information security incidents;
◦ Our reliance on technology innovation;
◦ The market price of our common stock may be volatile;
◦ Our charter documents and state law may delay or prevent a change of control or changes in our management;
◦ Changes to our size and structure;
◦ Our ability to acquire and integrate acquired companies; and
◦ The outcome or impact of current or future litigation involving the Company;



PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Our Company is a diversified financial services company with approximately $20.3 billion in assets and approximately 
$34.8 billion of assets under custody and/or administration at Axos Clearing LLC (“Axos Clearing”). Axos Bank (the “Bank”) 
provides consumer and commercial banking products through its digital online and mobile banking platforms, low-cost 
distribution channels and affinity partners. Our Bank offers deposit and lending products to customers nationwide including 
consumer and business checking, savings and time deposit accounts and single family and multifamily residential mortgages, 
commercial real estate mortgages and loans, fund and lender finance loans, asset-based loans, auto loans and other consumer 
loans. Our Bank generates non-interest income from consumer and business products, including fees from loans originated for 
sale, deposit account service fees, prepayment fees, as well as technology and payment transaction processing fees. We offer 
securities products and services to independent registered investment advisors (“RIAs”) and introducing broker dealers 
(“IBDs”) through Axos Clearing and Axos Advisor Services (“AAS”) and direct-to-consumer securities trading and digital 
investment management products through Axos Invest, Inc. (“Axos Invest”). AAS and Axos Clearing generate interest and fee 
income by providing comprehensive securities custody services to RIAs and clearing, stock lending, and margin lending 
services to IBDs respectively. Axos Invest generates fee income from self-directed securities trading and margin lending and 
fee income from digital wealth management services to consumers. Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the ticker symbol “AX” and is a component of the Russell 2000® Index, the KBW Nasdaq Financial 
Technology Index, the S&P SmallCap 600® Index, the KBW Nasdaq Financial Technology Index, and the Travillian Tech-
Forward Bank Index.

On June 30, 2023, Axos had total assets of $20.3 billion, including loans of $16.5 billion and investment securities of 
$0.2 billion, and total liabilities of $18.4 billion, including total deposits of $17.1 billion and borrowings of $0.5 billion. 
Because we do not incur the significantly higher fixed operating costs inherent in a branch-based distribution system, the Bank 
is able to grow deposits by providing a better value to our customers and by expanding our low-cost distribution channels.

Our business strategy is to grow our loan originations and our deposits to achieve increased economies of scale and 
reduce the cost of products and services to our customers by leveraging our distribution channels and technology. We have 
designed our online banking platform and our workflow processes to handle traditional banking functions with elimination of 
paperwork and human intervention. Our Bank’s charter allows us to conduct banking operations in all fifty states, as well as 
Puerto Rico, and our online presence allows for increased flexibility to target a large number of loan and deposit customers 
based on demographics, geography and service needs. Our low-cost distribution channels provide opportunities to increase our 
core deposits and increase our loan originations by attracting new customers and developing new and innovative products and 
services. Our securities clearing and custody and digital investment management platforms provide a comprehensive set of 
technology, clearing, cash management and lending services targeted at independent registered investment advisors and 
introducing broker-dealers, principals and clients of advisory firms and individuals not affiliated with an investment advisor. 
We are integrating our custody and wealth management platforms with our banking platform to create an easy-to-use platform 
for customers’ banking and investing needs. Additionally, our securities clearing and custody businesses generate additional 
low-cost deposits, which serve as a source of funding for our Bank.

Our long-term business plan includes the following principal objectives:
• Maintain an annualized return on average common stockholders’ equity of 17.0% or better;
• Annually increase average interest-earning assets by 12% or more; and
• Maintain an annualized efficiency ratio at the Bank of 40% or lower.
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Segment Information

We operate through two operating segments: Banking Business and Securities Business.

The Banking Business has a broad range of banking services including online banking, concierge banking, and 
mortgage, vehicle and unsecured lending through online, low-cost distribution channels to serve the needs of consumers and 
businesses nationally. In addition, the Banking Business focuses on providing deposit products nationwide to industry verticals 
(e.g., Title and Escrow), treasury management products to a variety of businesses, and commercial & industrial and commercial 
real estate lending to clients. The Banking Business includes a bankruptcy trustee and fiduciary service that provides 
specialized software and consulting services to Chapter 7 bankruptcy and non-Chapter 7 trustees and fiduciaries.

The Securities Business includes the clearing broker-dealer, registered investment advisor custody business, registered 
investment advisor, and introducing broker-dealer lines of businesses. These lines of business offer products independently to 
their own customers as well as to Banking Business clients. The Securities Business also offers a specialized accounting 
software that serves the business management, family office and wealth management industries.

The operating segments and segment results of the Company are determined based upon the management reporting 
system, which assigns balance sheet and income statement items to each of the business segments and by which segment results 
are evaluated by the Chief Executive Officer in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The process is 
designed around the organizational and management structure and, accordingly, the results derived are not necessarily 
comparable with similar information published by other financial institutions or in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on pre-tax profit or loss from operations in 
conjunction with its corporate strategy. Certain corporate administration costs have not been allocated to the reportable 
segments. Inter-segment transactions are eliminated in consolidation and primarily include non-interest income earned by the 
Securities Business segment and non-interest expense incurred by the Banking Business segment for cash sorting fees related to 
deposits sourced from Securities Business segment customers, as well as interest expense paid by the Banking Business 
segment to each of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and to the Company itself for operating cash held on deposit 
with the Banking Business segment.

BANKING BUSINESS

We distribute our deposit products through a wide range of retail and commercial distribution channels, and our 
deposits consist of demand, savings and time deposits accounts. We distribute our loan products through our retail, 
correspondent and wholesale channels, and the loans we retain include first mortgages secured by single family real property, 
multifamily real property and commercial real property, as well as commercial & industrial loans to businesses. Our securities 
consist of mortgage pass-through securities issued by government-sponsored entities, non-agency collateralized mortgage 
obligations and municipal securities. We believe our flexibility to adjust our asset generation channels has been a competitive 
advantage allowing us to avoid markets and products where credit fundamentals are poor or rewards are not sufficient to 
support our targeted return on equity.

Our distribution channels for our bank deposit and lending products include:
• A national online banking brand with tailored products targeted to specific consumer segments;
• Affinity groups where we gain access to the affinity group’s members, and our exclusive relationships with 

financial advisory firms;
• A commercial banking division focused on providing deposit products and loans to specific nationwide 

industry verticals (e.g., Homeowners’ Associations) and small and medium size businesses;
• Commission-based lending sales force that operates from remote locations, San Diego, Los Angeles and Salt 

Lake City and originates single and multifamily mortgage loans, commercial real estate and commercial and 
industrial loans and leases to qualified businesses; 

• A bankruptcy and non-bankruptcy trustee and fiduciary services team that operates from our Kansas City 
office focused on specialized software and consulting services that provide deposits; and

• Inside sales teams that originate loans and deposits from self-generated leads, third-party purchase leads, and 
from our retention and cross-sell of our existing customer base from both our Banking Business and 
Securities Business.

2



Banking Business - Asset Origination and Fee Income Businesses

 The Bank has built diverse loan origination and fee income businesses that generate targeted financial returns through 
our digital distribution channels. We believe the diversity of our businesses and our direct and indirect distribution channels 
provide us with increased flexibility to manage through changing market and operating environments.

Single Family - Mortgage & Warehouse

We generate earning assets and fee income from our mortgage lending activities, which consist of originating and 
servicing mortgages secured primarily by first liens on single family residential properties for consumers and providing 
warehouse lines of credit for third-party mortgage companies. We divide our single-family mortgage originations between loans 
we retain and loans we sell. Our mortgage banking business generates fee income and gains from sales of consumer single 
family mortgage loans. Our loan portfolio generates interest income and fees from loans we retain. We also provide home 
equity loans for consumers secured by second liens on single family mortgages. 

We originate fixed and adjustable-rate prime residential mortgage loans using a paperless loan origination system and 
centralized underwriting and closing process. Many of our loans have initial fixed rate periods (five or seven years) before 
starting a regular adjustment period (annually, semi-annually or monthly), as well as interest rate floors, ceilings and rate 
change caps. We warehouse our mortgage banking loans and sell to investors as conventional, government and non-agency 
loans. Our mortgage servicing business includes collecting loan payments, applying principal and interest payments to the loan 
balance, managing escrow funds for the payment of mortgage-related expenses, such as taxes and insurance, responding to 
customer inquiries, counseling delinquent mortgagors and supervising foreclosures.

We originate single family mortgage loans for consumers through multiple channels on a retail, wholesale and 
correspondent basis.

• Retail. We originate single family mortgage loans directly to consumers through our relationships with large 
affinity groups, leads from referral partners, portfolio retention, cross-selling and acquiring leads from third 
parties.

• Wholesale. We have relationships with licensed mortgage brokers from which the Bank manages wholesale 
loan pipelines through our originations systems and websites. Through our secure website, our approved 
brokers can compare programs, terms and pricing on a real-time basis and communicate with our staff.

• Correspondent. We acquire closed loans from third-party mortgage companies that originate single family 
loans in accordance with our portfolio specifications or the specifications of our investors. We may purchase 
pools of seasoned, single-family loans originated by others during economic cycles when those loans have 
more attractive risk-adjusted returns than those we may originate.

We originate lender-finance loans to businesses secured by first liens on single family mortgage loans from cross 
selling, retail direct and through third parties. Our warehouse customers are primarily generated through cross selling to our 
network of third-party mortgage companies.

Multifamily and Commercial Mortgage

Multifamily and Commercial Mortgage loans include adjustable-rate multifamily residential mortgage loans and 
project-based multifamily real-estate-secured loans with interest rates that adjust based on the Secured Overnight Financing 
Rate (“SOFR”), the American Interbank Offered Rate (“Ameribor”) or other interest rate indices. Many of our loans have initial 
fixed rate periods (three, five or seven years) before starting a regular adjustment period (annually, semi-annually or monthly) 
as well as prepayment protection clauses, interest rate floors and rate change caps.

We divide our multifamily residential mortgage portfolio between the loans we retain and the loans we sell. Our 
mortgage banking business includes gains from those multifamily mortgage loans we sell. Our loan portfolio generates interest 
income and fees from the loans we retain.

We originate multifamily mortgage loans using a commission-based commercial lending sales force that operates from 
home offices across the United States or from our San Diego location. Customers are targeted through origination techniques 
such as direct mail marketing, personal sales efforts, email marketing, online marketing and print advertising. Loan applications 
are submitted electronically to centralized employee teams who underwrite, process and close loans. The sales force team 
members operate regionally both as retail originators for apartment owners and wholesale representatives to other mortgage 
brokers.

3



Commercial Real Estate

We originate loans across the U.S. secured by real estate properties under a variety of structures that we classify as 
commercial real estate (“CRE”). Our CRE portfolio is comprised of CRE Specialty loans, which include Commercial Bridge to 
Sale, Commercial Bridge to Construction, Commercial Bridge to Refinance and Acquisition, Development and Construction, 
and also includes our Lender Finance Real Estate loans. CRE loans are originated by our sales force dedicated to commercial 
lending by contacting borrowers directly or by working with third-party partners or brokers to businesses secured by first liens 
on single family, multifamily, condominium, office, retail, mixed-use, hospitality, undeveloped or to-be-redeveloped land. 
Repayment of CRE loans depends on the successful completion of the real estate transition project and permanent take-out or 
sale of the underlying assets on the line. We attempt to mitigate risk by adhering to underwriting policies in evaluating the 
collateral and the creditworthiness of borrowers and guarantors, as well as by entering structured facilities where we take a 
senior lien position collateralized by the underlying real estate.

Commercial & Industrial - Non-Real Estate (“Non-RE”)

Comprising the majority of this portfolio are commercial and industrial non-real estate, asset-backed loans, lines of 
credit, term loans and leases made to commercial borrowers secured by commercial assets, including, but not limited to, 
receivables, inventory and equipment. We typically reduce exposure in these loans by entering into a structured facility, under 
which we take a senior lien position collateralized by the underlying assets at advance rates well below the collateral value. The 
remainder of this portfolio is comprised of leveraged cash flow lending and commercial and industrial leases. Leveraged cash 
flow loans provide financial sponsors the ability to finance acquisitions, management buy-outs, recapitalizations, debt 
refinancing and dividends/distributions. Such lending relies on free cash flow as the primary repayment source, and enterprise 
value as the secondary repayment source. Leveraged cash flow loans are offered to both lower middle market and larger 
corporate borrowers. Commercial and industrial leases are primarily made based on the operating cash flows of the borrower or 
conversion of working capital assets to cash and secondarily on the underlying collateral provided by the borrower. We provide 
leases to small businesses and middle market companies that use the funds to purchase machinery, equipment and software 
essential to their operations. The lease terms are generally between two and ten years and amortize primarily to full repayment, 
or in some cases, to a de minimis residual balance. The leases are offered nationwide to companies in targeted industries 
through a direct sales force and through independent third-party sales referrals. Although commercial and industrial loans and 
leases are often collateralized directly or indirectly by equipment, inventory, accounts or loans receivable or other business 
assets, the liquidation of collateral in the event of a borrower default may be an insufficient source of repayment because 
accounts or loans receivable may be uncollectible and inventories and equipment may be obsolete or of limited use. We attempt 
to mitigate these risks through the structuring of these lending products, adhering to underwriting policies in evaluating the 
management of the business and the credit-worthiness of borrowers and guarantors. 

Auto

Our automobile lending division originates prime and subprime loans to customers secured by new and used 
automobiles (“autos”). Our subprime loans are insured via a default risk mitigation product in which we recoup a large 
percentage of the deficiency balance on charged off loans. We distribute our auto loan products through direct and indirect 
channels, hold all of the auto loans that we originate and perform the loan servicing functions for these loans. Our loans carry a 
fixed interest rate for periods ranging from three to eight years and generate interest income and fees.
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◦ Specialty Deposit Verticals, which include Title, Escrow, HOA and Property Management, 1031 Exchange, 
Trust & Estates and Payment Processors;

◦ Software Verticals, which include:
▪ Axos Fiduciary Services: A full-service fiduciary team catered specifically to support bankruptcy 

and non-bankruptcy trustees and fiduciaries with their software and banking needs, and
▪ Zenith Information Systems, Inc.: A business management and entertainment accounting and payroll 

software offering supported by a dedicated service team;
◦ Commercial Banking Verticals, which include other middle market industries along with deposit relationships 

for Commercial Real Estate and Commercial & Industrial lending clients.

To support the acquisition and retention of low-cost operating deposits, we place significant focus on the continued 
development of a comprehensive suite of treasury management products and services, which include;

◦ Deposit and liquidity management products: Analyzed and non-analyzed checking accounts, interest checking 
accounts and, money market Accounts, zero balance accounts, insured cash sorting (sweep accounts);

◦  Payables products: ACH origination, wire transfer (domestic and international), commercial check printing, 
business bill pay and account transfer;

◦  Receivables products: remote deposit capture, mobile deposit, image cash letter, lockbox, merchant services, 
online payment portal;

◦  Information reporting and reconciliation products: prior day and current day summary and detail reporting, 
statement, check and deposit images; and

◦  Security and fraud prevention products: direct link security, check positive pay, ACH blocks and filters.

Delivery channels for the above products include online, mobile and integration services. Integration services include 
file-based and API-based capabilities which enable direct integration with numerous software partners and clients’ in-
house ERP or accounting systems.

• An online consumer and small business platform that delivers an enhanced banking experience with tailored products 
targeted to specific consumer and small business segments. Our online consumer and small business banking platform 
is full-featured with quick and secure access to activity, statements and other features including:

• Purchase Rewards. Customers can earn cash back by using their VISA® Debit Card at select merchants;
• Mobile Banking. Customers can access with Touch ID on eligible devices, review account balances, transfer 

funds, deposit checks and pay bills from the convenience of their mobile phone;
• Mobile Deposit. Customers can instantly deposit checks from their smart phones using our Mobile App;
• Online Bill Payment Service. Customers can automatically pay their bills online from their account;
• Peer to Peer Payments. Customers can securely send money via email or text messaging through this service;
• My Deposit. Customers can scan checks with this remote deposit solution from their home computers. 

Scanned images will be electronically transmitted for deposit directly to their account;
• Text Message Banking. Customers can view their account balances, transaction history, and transfer funds 

between their accounts via these text message commands from their mobile phones;
• Unlimited ATM Reimbursements. With certain checking accounts, customers are reimbursed for any fees 

incurred using an ATM (excludes international ATM transactions). This provides customers with access to 
any ATM in the nation, for free;

• Secure Email and Chatbot. Customers can use our chatbot and send or receive secure emails from our 
customer service department without concern for the security of their information;

• InterBank Transfer. Customers can transfer money to their accounts at other financial institutions from their 
online banking platform;

• VISA® Debit Cards or ATM Cards. Customers may choose to receive either a free VISA® Debit or an ATM 
card upon account opening. Customers can access their accounts worldwide at ATMs and any other locations 
that accept VISA® Debit cards;

• Overdraft Protection. Eligible customers can enroll in one of our overdraft protection programs;
• Digital Wallets. Our Apple Pay™, Samsung Pay™ and Android Pay™ solutions provide the same ease to pay 

as a debit card with an eligible device. The mobile experience is easy and seamless; and
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• Cash Deposit Through Reload @ the Register. Customers can visit any Walmart, Safeway, ACE Cash 
Express, CVS Pharmacy, Dollar General, Dollar Tree, Family Dollar, Kroger, Rite Aid, 7-Eleven and 
Walgreens, and ask to load cash into their account at the register. A fee is applied.

We offer a full line of deposit products, which we source through both online channels using operating and marketing 
strategies that emphasize low operating costs and are flexible and scalable for our business. Our full featured products 
and platforms, 24/7 customer service and our affinity relationships result in customer accounts with strong retention 
characteristics. We continuously collect customer feedback and improve our processes to satisfy customer needs. For 
example, one tailored product is designed for customers who are looking for full-featured demand accounts and 
competitive fees and interest rates, while another product targets primarily tech-savvy customers seeking a low-fee 
cost structure and a high-yield savings account.

We offer our consumer deposits through several channels, including:

• A concierge banking offer serving the needs of high net worth individuals with premium products and 
dedicated service;

• Financial advisory and clearing firms who introduce their clients to our deposit products through Axos 
Clearing and its business division AAS; and

• A call center that opens accounts through self-generated internet leads, third-party purchased leads, 
partnerships, and retention and cross-sell efforts to our existing customer base.

Our deposit operations are conducted through a centralized, scalable operating platform which supports all of our 
distribution channels. The integrated nature of our systems and our ability to efficiently scale our operations create competitive 
advantages that support our value proposition to customers. Additionally, the features described above such as online account 
opening and online bill-pay promote self-service and further reduce operating expenses.

We believe our deposit franchise will continue to provide lower all-in funding costs (interest expense plus operating 
costs) with greater scalability than branch-intensive banking models because the traditional branch model operates with 
inherently higher fixed operating costs.
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testing and delivery. At the core of our infrastructure, we have designed and implemented secure and scalable hardware 
solutions to ensure we meet the needs of our business. Our customer experiences were designed to address the needs of a digital 
bank and its customers. Our websites and technology platforms drive our customer-focused and self-service engagement model, 
reducing the need for human interaction while increasing our overall operating efficiencies. Our focus on internal technology 
platforms enable continuous automation and secure and scalable processing environments for increased transaction capacity. 
We intend to continue to improve and adapt technology platforms to meet business objectives and implement new systems with 
the goal of efficiently enabling our business.

SECURITY

We recognize that information is a critical asset. How information is managed, controlled and protected has a 
significant impact on the delivery of services. Information assets, including those held in trust, must be protected from 
unauthorized use, disclosure, theft, loss, destruction and alteration.

We employ a robust information security program to achieve our security objectives. The program is designed to 
prevent, detect and respond to cyberattacks. We also continue to make significant investments in enhancing our cyber defense 
capabilities to mitigate the risks from the full spectrum of emerging information security threats.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

As part of our strategy to protect and enhance our intellectual property, we rely on a variety of legal protections, 
including copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, patents, internet domain names and certain contractual restrictions on 
solicitation and competition, and disclosure and distribution of confidential and proprietary information. We undertake 
measures to control access to and/or disclosure of our trade secrets and other confidential and proprietary information. Policing 
unauthorized use of our intellectual property, trade secrets and other proprietary information is difficult and litigation may be 
necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights. 

HUMAN CAPITAL

At June 30, 2023, we had 1,455 full-time employees, which does not include seasonal internship employees. None of 
our employees are represented by a labor union or are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We have not experienced 
any work stoppage and consider our relations with our employees to be satisfactory. We offer market-based, competitive wages 
and benefits in the market where we compete for talent.

Our key human capital management objectives are to attract, retain and develop the highest quality talent. To support 
these objectives, our human resources programs are designed to develop talent to prepare them for critical roles and leadership 
positions for the future, reward and support employees through competitive pay, benefit and perquisite programs, and evolve 
and invest in technology, training, tools and resources to enable employees to effectively and efficiently perform their 
responsibilities and achieve their potential. We believe this is important to recruiting and retaining talent to allow our 
organization to achieve its goals and objectives.

COMPETITION

The market for banking and financial services is intensely competitive, and we expect competition to continue to 
intensify in the future. The Bank attracts deposits through its banking sales force and online acquisition channels. Competition 
for those deposits comes from a wide variety of other banks, savings institutions, and credit unions. Money market funds, full-
service securities brokerage firms and financial technology companies also compete for these funds. The Bank competes for 
these deposits by offering superior service and a variety of deposit accounts at competitive rates. In real estate lending, we 
compete against traditional real estate lenders, including large and small savings banks, commercial banks, mortgage bankers 
and mortgage brokers. 

Many of our current and potential competitors have greater brand recognition, longer operating histories, larger 
customer bases and significantly greater financial, marketing and other resources and are capable of providing strong price and 
customer service competition. Technological innovation and capabilities, including changes in product delivery systems and 
web-based tools, continue to contribute to greater competition in domestic and international financial services markets, and 
larger competitors may be able to allocate more resources to these technology initiatives. 

In our Securities Business segment, we face significant competition in providing clearing and advisory services based 
on a number of factors, including price, speed of execution, perceived expertise, quality of advice, reputation, range of services 
and products, technology, and innovation. There exists significant competition for recruiting and retaining talent. Axos Clearing 
competes directly with numerous other financial advisory and investment banking firms, broker-dealers and banks, including 
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large national and major regional firms and smaller niche companies, some of whom are not broker-dealers and, therefore, are 
not subject to the broker-dealer regulatory framework. We separate ourselves from the competition through our excellence in 
customer service, including a highly attentive and dedicated workforce, while providing an expanding range of clearing and 
advisory products and services.

SUPERVISION AND REGULATION

GENERAL

We are subject to comprehensive regulation under state and federal laws. This regulation is intended primarily for the 
protection of our customers, the deposit insurance fund and the U.S. finance system and not for the benefit of our security 
holders. 

Axos Financial, Inc. is supervised and regulated as a savings and loan holding company by the Board of Governors of 
the Federal Reserve System (the “Federal Reserve”). The Bank, as a federal savings bank, is subject to regulation, examination 
and supervision by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”) as its primary regulator, and the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) as its deposit insurer. The Bank must file reports with the OCC and the FDIC and Axos 
Financial, Inc. with the Federal Reserve, concerning their activities and financial condition. In addition, the Bank is subject to 
the regulation, examination and supervision by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) with respect to a broad 
array of federal consumer laws. Our subsidiaries, Axos Clearing LLC and Axos Invest LLC, are broker-dealers and are 
registered with and subject to regulation by the SEC and FINRA. In addition, Axos Invest, Inc., an investment adviser, is 
registered with the SEC. Axos Invest, Inc. is subject to the requirements of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended 
(the “Advisers Act”), and the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and is subject to examination by the SEC.

The following information describes aspects of the material laws and regulations applicable to the Company. The 
information below does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to all applicable laws and 
regulations. In addition, new and amended legislation, rules and regulations governing the Company are introduced from time 
to time by the U.S. government and its various agencies, including in response to recent highly-publicized bank failures. Any 
such legislation, regulatory changes or amendments could adversely affect us and no assurance can be given as to whether, or in 
what form, any such changes may occur.

REGULATION OF FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANY

General. Axos Financial is a unitary savings and loan holding company within the meaning of the Home Owners’ 
Loan Act (“HOLA”), and is treated as a “financial holding company” under Federal Reserve rules. Accordingly, Axos Financial 
is registered as a savings and loan holding company with the Federal Reserve and is subject to the Federal Reserve’s 
regulations, examinations, supervision and reporting requirements. Axos Financial is required to file reports with, comply with 
the rules and regulations of, and is subject to examination by the Federal Reserve. In addition, the Federal Reserve has 
enforcement authority over Axos Financial and its subsidiaries. Among other things, this authority permits the Federal Reserve 
to restrict or prohibit activities that are determined to be a serious risk to the saving and loan holding company or its 
subsidiaries. 

 Capital. Our Company and the Bank are subject to the risk-based regulatory capital framework and guidelines 
established by the Federal Reserve and the OCC. In July 2013, the Federal Reserve and the OCC published final rules (the 
“Regulatory Capital Rules”) establishing a comprehensive capital framework for U.S. banking organizations. The Regulatory 
Capital Rules are intended to measure capital adequacy with regard to a banking organization’s balance sheet, including off-
balance sheet exposures such as unused portions of loan commitments, letters of credit, and recourse arrangements. The capital 
requirements for the Company are similar to those for the Bank.

The Regulatory Capital Rules implement the Basel Committee’s December 2010 capital framework known as “Basel 
III” for strengthening international capital standards as well as certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”). The failure of the Company or the Bank to meet minimum capital 
requirements can result in certain mandatory, and possibly additional discretionary actions by federal banking regulators that 
could have a material effect on the Company, explained in more detail below under “Regulation of Banking Business – 
Regulatory Capital Requirements and Prompt Corrective Action”.

The Regulatory Capital Rules require banking organizations (i.e., both the Company and the Bank) to maintain a 
minimum “common equity Tier 1” (“CET1”) ratio of 4.5%, a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 6.0%, a total risk-based capital 
ratio of 8.0%, and a minimum leverage ratio of 4.0% (calculated as Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets). A capital 
conservation buffer of 2.5% above each of these levels is required for banking institutions to avoid restrictions on their ability 
to make capital distributions, including the payment of dividends.
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The Regulatory Capital Rules provide for a number of deductions from and adjustments to CET1. In addition, trust 
preferred securities have been phased out of tier 1 capital for banking organizations that had $15 billion or more in total 
consolidated assets as of December 31, 2009 unless the banking organization grows above $15.0 billion in assets as a result of 
an acquisition. The Company’s trust preferred securities currently are grandfathered under this provision. In addition, the 
Company and the Bank elected the current expected credit losses (“CECL”) five-year transition guidance for calculating 
regulatory capital ratios on July 1, 2020 and the June 30, 2023 ratios include this election. This guidance allows an entity to add 
back to capital 100% of the capital impact from the day one CECL transition adjustment and 25% of subsequent increases to 
the allowance for credit losses through June 30, 2022. This cumulative amount will then be phased out of regulatory capital 
over the following three years beginning July 1, 2022. 

The implementation of certain regulations and standards relating to regulatory capital could disproportionately affect 
our regulatory capital position relative to that of our competitors, including those that may not be subject to the same regulatory 
requirements as the Company and the Bank. Various aspects of the Regulatory Capital Rules continue to be subject to further 
evaluation and interpretation by the U.S. banking regulators. 

As of June 30, 2023, the capital ratios of both the Company and the Bank exceeded the minimums necessary to be 
considered “well-capitalized” under the currently enacted capital adequacy requirements, including after implementation of the 
deductions and other adjustments to CET1 on a fully phased-in basis. For additional information, please see Note 19 - 
“Minimum Regulatory Capital Requirements” to the financial statements filed with this report. 

Source of Strength. The Dodd-Frank Act extends the Federal Reserve “source of strength” doctrine to savings and 
loan holding companies. Such policy requires holding companies to act as a source of financial strength to their subsidiary 
depository institutions by providing capital, liquidity and other support in times of an institution’s financial distress. The 
regulatory agencies have yet to issue joint regulations implementing this policy.

 Change in Control. The federal banking laws require that appropriate regulatory approvals must be obtained before 
an individual or company may take actions to “control” a bank or savings association. The definition of control found in the 
HOLA is similar to that found in the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (“BHCA”) for bank holding companies. Both 
statutes apply a similar three-prong test for determining when a company controls a bank or savings association. Specifically, a 
company has control over either a bank or savings association if the company:

• directly or indirectly or acting in concert with one or more persons, owns, controls, or has the power to vote 25% or 
more of the voting securities of a company; 

• controls in any manner the election of a majority of the directors (or any individual who performs similar functions in 
respect of any company, including a trustee under a trust) of the board; or 

• directly or indirectly exercises a controlling influence over the management or policies of the bank. 

Regulation LL includes a specific definition of “control” similar to the statutory definition, with certain additional 
provisions, and modifies the regulations for purposes of determining when a company or natural person acquires control of a 
savings association or savings and loan holding company under the HOLA or the Change in Bank Control Act (“CBCA”). In 
light of the similarity between the statutes governing bank holding companies and savings and loan holding companies, the 
Federal Reserve uses its established rules and processes with respect to control determinations under HOLA and the CBCA to 
ensure consistency between equivalent statutes administered by the same agency.

Furthermore, the Federal Reserve may not approve any acquisition that would result in a multiple savings and loan 
holding company controlling savings institutions in more than one state, subject to two exceptions; (i) the approval of interstate 
supervisory acquisitions by savings and loan holding companies and (ii) the acquisition of a savings institution in another state 
if the laws of the state of the target savings institution specifically permit such acquisition. The states vary in the extent to which 
they permit interstate savings and loan holding company acquisitions.

Financial Holding Company. The Company operates as a savings and loan holding company that is treated as a 
financial holding company under the rules and regulations of the Federal Reserve. Financial holding companies are generally 
permitted to affiliate with securities firms and insurance companies and engage in other activities that are "financial in nature." 
Such activities include, among other things, securities underwriting, dealing and market making; sponsoring mutual funds and 
investment companies; insurance underwriting and agency; merchant banking activities; and activities that the Federal Reserve 
has determined to be closely related to banking. If the Bank ceases to be “well capitalized” or “well managed” under applicable 
regulatory standards, the Federal Reserve may, among other things, place limitations on our ability to conduct these broader 
financial activities. In addition, if the Bank receives a rating of less than satisfactory under the Community Reinvestment Act, 
we would be prohibited from engaging in any additional activities other than those permissible for bank holding companies that 
are not financial holding companies. If a financial holding company fails to continue to meet any of the prerequisites for 
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financial holding company status, including those described above, the Federal Reserve may order the company to divest its 
subsidiary banks or discontinue or divest investments in companies engaged in activities permissible only for a bank holding 
company that has elected to be treated as a financial holding company. No regulatory approval is required for a financial 
holding company to acquire a company, other than a bank or savings association, engaged in activities that are financial in 
nature or incidental to activities that are financial in nature, as determined by the Federal Reserve.

Volcker Rule. Under certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act known as the Volcker Rule, FDIC-insured depository 
institutions, their holding companies, subsidiaries and affiliates, are generally prohibited, subject to certain exemptions, from 
proprietary trading of securities and other financial instruments and from acquiring or retaining an ownership interest in a 
“covered fund”. The term “covered fund” can include, in addition to many private equity and hedge funds and other entities, 
certain collateralized mortgage obligations, collateralized debt obligations and collateralized loan obligations, and other items, 
but does not include wholly owned subsidiaries, certain joint ventures, or loan securitizations generally if the underlying assets 
are solely loans.

Trading in certain government obligations is not prohibited by the Volcker Rule, including obligations of or 
guaranteed by the United States or an agency or government-sponsored entity of the United States, obligations of a State of the 
United States or a political subdivision thereof, and municipal securities. Proprietary trading generally does not include 
transactions under repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements, securities lending transactions and purchases and sales for the 
purpose of liquidity management if the liquidity management plan meets specified criteria; nor does it generally include 
transactions undertaken in a fiduciary capacity. In addition, activities eligible for exemption include, among others, certain 
brokerage, underwriting and marketing activities, and risk-mitigating hedging activities with respect to specific risks and 
subject to specified conditions. 

In July 2020, the Federal Reserve, FDIC, OCC, SEC, and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) 
finalized a rule modifying the Volcker Rule’s prohibition on banking entities investing in or sponsoring hedge funds or private 
equity funds (referred to under the rules as covered funds). The final rule streamlines several aspects of the covered funds 
portion of the rule; allows banking organizations to offer and sponsor venture capital funds and a wider array of loan-related 
funds; and permits banking entities to offer financial services to, and engage in other activities with, covered funds that do not 
raise concerns that the Volcker rule was intended to address. The final rule became effective October 1, 2020.

Potential Regulatory Enforcement Actions. If the Federal Reserve or the OCC determines that a saving and loan 
holding company’s or federal savings bank’s financial condition, capital resources, asset quality, earnings prospects, 
management, liquidity, or other aspects of its operations are unsatisfactory or that its management has violated any law or 
regulation, the agency has the authority to take a number of different remedial actions as it deems appropriate under the 
circumstances. These actions include the power to enjoin any “unsafe or unsound” banking practices; to require that affirmative 
action be taken to correct any conditions resulting from any violation of law or unsafe or unsound practice; to issue an 
administrative order that can be judicially enforced; to require that it increase its capital; to restrict its growth; assess civil 
monetary penalties against it or its officers or directors; and to remove any of its officers and directors.

REGULATION OF BANKING BUSINESS

General. As a federally-chartered savings and loan association whose deposit accounts are insured by the FDIC, Axos 
Bank is subject to extensive regulation by the OCC, FDIC and the CFPB with respect to federal consumer financial laws. The 
following discussion summarizes some of the principal areas of regulation applicable to the Bank and its operations. 

Insurance of Deposit Accounts. The FDIC administers a deposit insurance fund (the “DIF”) that insures depositors in 
certain types of accounts up to a prescribed amount for the loss of any such depositor’s respective deposits due to the failure of 
an FDIC member depository institution. As the administrator of the DIF, the FDIC assesses its member depository institutions 
and determines the appropriate DIF premiums to be paid by each such institution. Recent activity in the banking industry, 
including certain highly-publicized bank failures, is expected to cause premiums on the FDIC’s DIF to increase. The FDIC is 
authorized to examine its member institutions and to require that they file periodic reports of their condition and operations. The 
FDIC may also prohibit any member institution from engaging in any activity the FDIC determines by regulation or order to 
pose a serious risk to the DIF. The FDIC has the authority to initiate enforcement actions against savings associations, after 
giving the primary federal regulator the opportunity to take such action. The FDIC may terminate an institution’s access to the 
DIF if it determines that the institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices or is in an unsafe or unsound condition. We 
do not know of any practice, condition or violation that might lead to termination of our access to the DIF.

Axos Bank is a member depository institution of the FDIC and its deposits are insured by the DIF up to the applicable 
limits, which are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. The basic deposit insurance limit is $250,000.
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Regulatory Capital Requirements and Prompt Corrective Action. The prompt corrective action regulation of the OCC 
requires mandatory actions and authorizes other discretionary actions to be taken by the OCC against a savings association that 
falls within undercapitalized capital categories specified in OCC regulations.

In general, the prompt corrective action regulation prohibits an FDIC member institution from declaring any dividends, 
making any other capital distribution, or paying a management fee to a controlling person if, following the distribution or 
payment, the institution would be within any of the three undercapitalized categories. In addition, adequately capitalized 
institutions may accept brokered deposits only with a waiver from the FDIC, but are subject to restrictions on the interest rates 
that can be paid on such deposits. Undercapitalized institutions may not accept, renew or roll-over brokered deposits.

If the OCC determines that an institution is in an unsafe or unsound condition, or if the institution is deemed to be 
engaging in an unsafe and unsound practice, the OCC may, if the institution is well-capitalized, reclassify it as adequately 
capitalized. If the institution is adequately capitalized, but not well-capitalized, the OCC may require it to comply with 
restrictions applicable to undercapitalized institutions. If the institution is undercapitalized, the OCC may require it to comply 
with restrictions applicable to significantly undercapitalized institutions. Finally, pursuant to an interagency agreement, the 
FDIC can examine any institution that has a substandard regulatory examination score or is considered undercapitalized without 
the express permission of the institution’s primary regulator.

Capital regulations applicable to savings associations such as the Bank also require savings associations to meet the 
additional capital standard of tangible capital equal to at least 1.5% of total adjusted assets.

The Bank’s capital requirements are viewed as minimum standards and most financial institutions are expected to 
maintain capital levels well above the minimum. In addition, OCC regulations provide that minimum capital levels greater than 
those provided in the regulations may be established by the OCC for individual savings associations upon a determination that 
the savings association’s capital is or may become inadequate in view of its circumstances. Axos Bank is not subject to any 
such individual minimum regulatory capital requirement and the Bank’s regulatory capital exceeded all minimum regulatory 
capital requirements as of June 30, 2023. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Stress Testing. The Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act set the asset threshold for 
enhanced prudential standards and stress testing at $100 billion of total consolidated assets. Based on asset levels at June 30, 
2022, neither the Company nor the Bank are subject to enhanced stress test regulations. The federal banking agencies have 
indicated that the capital planning and risk management practices of financial institutions with total assets less than $100 billion 
will continue to be reviewed through the regular supervisory process. We plan to continue monitoring our capital consistent 
with the safety and soundness expectations of the Federal Reserve and will continue to use customized stress testing as part of 
our capital planning process.

Standards for Safety and Soundness. The federal banking regulatory agencies have prescribed, by regulation, 
guidelines for all insured depository institutions relating to: (i) internal controls, information systems and internal audit systems; 
(ii) loan documentation; (iii) credit underwriting; (iv) interest rate risk exposure; (v) asset growth; (vi) asset quality; 
(vii) earnings; and (viii) compensation, fees and benefits. The guidelines set forth safety and soundness standards that the 
federal banking regulatory agencies use to identify and address problems at FDIC member institutions before capital becomes 
impaired. If the OCC determines that the Bank fails to meet any standard prescribed by the guidelines, the OCC may require us 
to submit to it an acceptable plan to achieve compliance with the standard. OCC regulations establish deadlines for the 
submission and review of such safety and soundness compliance plans in response to any such determination. 

Loans-to-One-Borrower Limitations. Savings associations generally are subject to the lending limits applicable to 
national banks. With limited exceptions, the maximum amount that a savings association or a national bank may lend to any 
borrower, including related entities of the borrower, at one time may not exceed 15% of the unimpaired capital and surplus of 
the institution, plus an additional 10% of unimpaired capital and surplus for loans fully secured by readily marketable collateral. 
Savings associations are additionally authorized to make loans to one borrower by order of its regulator, in an amount not to 
exceed the lesser of $30.0 million or 30% of unimpaired capital and surplus for the purpose of developing domestic residential 
housing, if the following specified conditions are met:

• The savings association is in compliance with its fully phased-in capital requirements;
• The loans comply with applicable loan-to-value requirements; and
• The aggregate amount of loans made under this authority does not exceed 150% of unimpaired capital and surplus.

At June 30, 2023, the Bank’s loans-to-one-borrower limit was $301.1 million, based upon the 15% of unimpaired 
capital and surplus measurement. At June 30, 2023, our largest outstanding loan balance to one borrower was $250.0 million.
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Qualified Thrift Lender Test. Savings associations must meet a qualified thrift lender, or “QTL,” test. This test may 
be met either by maintaining a specified level of portfolio assets in qualified thrift investments as specified by the HOLA, or by 
meeting the definition of a “domestic building and loan association,” (“DBLA”) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, (the “Code”). Qualified thrift investments are primarily residential mortgage loans and related investments, including 
mortgage related securities. Portfolio assets generally mean total assets less specified liquid assets, goodwill and other 
intangible assets and the value of property used in the conduct of the Bank’s business. The required percentage of qualified 
thrift investments under the HOLA is 65% of “portfolio assets” (defined as total assets less: (i) specified liquid assets up to 20% 
of total assets; (ii) intangibles, including goodwill; and (iii) the value of property used to conduct business) and under the 
DBLA is at least 60% of the amount of total assets. An association must be in compliance with the HOLA test on a monthly 
basis at least nine out of every 12 months or meet the definition of a DBLA at the savings association’s fiscal year end or on an 
average basis. Savings associations that fail to meet the QTL test will generally be prohibited from engaging in any activity not 
permitted for both a national bank and a savings association. At June 30, 2023, the Bank was in compliance with its QTL 
requirement and met the definition of a DBLA.

Liquidity Standard. Savings associations are required to maintain sufficient liquidity to ensure safe and sound 
operations. As of June 30, 2023, Axos Bank was in compliance with the applicable liquidity standard.

Transactions with Related Parties. The authority of the Bank to engage in transactions with “affiliates” (i.e., any 
company that controls or is under common control with it, including the Company and any non-depository institution 
subsidiaries) is limited by federal law. The aggregate amount of covered transactions with any individual affiliate is limited to 
10% of the capital and surplus of the savings institution. The aggregate amount of covered transactions with all affiliates is 
limited to 20% of a savings institution’s capital and surplus. Certain transactions with affiliates are required to be secured by 
collateral in an amount and of a type described in federal law. The purchase of low quality assets from affiliates is generally 
prohibited. Transactions with affiliates must be on terms and under circumstances that are at least as favorable to the institution 
as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with non-affiliated companies. In addition, savings institutions are 
prohibited from lending to any affiliate that is engaged in activities that are not permissible for bank holding companies, and no 
savings institution may purchase the securities of any affiliate other than a subsidiary.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act generally prohibits loans by public companies to their executive officers and directors. 
However, there is a specific exception for loans by financial institutions, such as the Bank, to its executive officers and directors 
that are made in compliance with federal banking laws. Under such laws, our authority to extend credit to executive officers, 
directors, and 10% or more stockholders (“insiders”), as well as entities such persons control, is limited. The law limits both the 
individual and aggregate amount of loans the Bank may make to insiders based, in part, on its capital position and requires 
certain board approval procedures to be followed. Such loans are required to be made on terms substantially the same as those 
offered to unaffiliated individuals and cannot involve more than the normal risk of repayment. There is an exception for loans 
made pursuant to a benefit or compensation program that is widely available to all employees of the institution and does not 
give preference to insiders over other employees.

Capital Distribution Limitations. OCC regulations limit the ability of a savings association to make capital 
distributions, such as cash dividends. These regulations limit the ability of the Bank to pay dividends or other capital 
distributions to the Company, which in turn may limit our ability to pay dividends, repay debt or redeem or purchase shares of 
our outstanding common stock. Under these regulations, a savings association may, in circumstances described in those 
regulations:

• Be required to file an application and await approval from the OCC before it makes a capital distribution;
• Be required to file a notice 30 days before the capital distribution; or
• Be permitted to make the capital distribution without notice or application to the OCC.

Community Reinvestment Act and the Fair Lending Laws. Savings associations have a responsibility under the 
Community Reinvestment Act and related regulations of the OCC to help meet the credit needs of their communities, including 
low- and moderate-income neighborhoods. In addition, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and the Fair Housing Act prohibit 
lenders from discriminating in their lending practices on the basis of characteristics specified in those statutes. An institution’s 
failure to comply with the provisions of the Community Reinvestment Act could, at a minimum, result in regulatory restrictions 
on its activities and the denial of applications for certain expansionary activities. In addition, an institution’s failure to comply 
with the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and the Fair Housing Act could result in the OCC, other federal regulatory agencies or 
the Department of Justice, taking enforcement actions against the institution. In the most recent Community Reinvestment Act 
Report, issued May 2019, the Bank received a ‘Satisfactory’ rating covering calendar years 2016, 2017, and 2018.
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Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) System. The Bank is a member of the FHLB system. Among other benefits, 
each FHLB serves as a reserve or central bank for its members within its assigned region. Each FHLB is financed primarily 
from the sale of consolidated obligations of the FHLB system. Each FHLB makes available loans or advances to its members in 
compliance with the policies and procedures established by the Board of Directors of the individual FHLB. As an FHLB 
member, the Bank is required to own capital stock in a Federal Home Loan Bank in specified amounts based on either its 
aggregate outstanding principal amount of its residential mortgage loans, home purchase contracts and similar obligations at the 
beginning of each calendar year or its outstanding advances from the FHLB.

Activities of Subsidiaries. A savings association seeking to establish a new subsidiary, acquire control of an existing 
company or conduct a new activity through a subsidiary must provide not less than 30 days prior notice to the FDIC and the 
OCC and conduct any activities of the subsidiary in compliance with regulations and orders of the OCC. The OCC has the 
power to require a savings association to divest any subsidiary or terminate any activity conducted by a subsidiary that the OCC 
determines to pose a serious threat to the financial safety, soundness or stability of the savings association or to be otherwise 
inconsistent with sound banking practices.

Consumer Laws and Regulations. The Dodd-Frank Act established the CFPB with broad rule-making, supervisory 
and enforcement authority over consumer financial products and services, including deposit products, residential mortgages, 
home-equity loans and credit cards. The CFPB is an independent “watchdog” within the Federal Reserve System with authority 
to enforce and create (i) rules, orders and guidelines of the CFPB, (ii) all consumer financial protection functions, powers and 
duties transferred from other federal agencies, such as the Federal Reserve, the OCC, the FDIC, the Federal Trade Commission, 
and the Department of Housing and Urban Development, and (iii) a long list of consumer financial protection laws enumerated 
in the Dodd-Frank Act, such as the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the Consumer Leasing Act of 1976, the Alternative Mortgage 
Transaction Parity Act of 1982, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Expedited Funds Availability Act, the Truth in Lending 
Act and the Truth in Savings Act, among many others. The CFPB has broad examination and enforcement authority, including 
the power to issue subpoenas and cease and desist orders, commence civil actions, hold investigations and hearings and seek 
civil penalties, as well as the authority to regulate disclosures, mandate registration of any covered person and to regulate what 
it considers unfair, deceptive, abusive practices.

Depository institutions with more than $10 billion in assets and their affiliates are subject to direct supervision by the 
CFPB, including any applicable examination, enforcement and reporting requirements the CFPB may establish. As of June 30, 
2023, we had $20.3 billion in total assets, placing the Bank under the direct supervision and oversight of the CFPB. The laws 
and regulations of the CFPB and other consumer protection laws and regulations to which the Bank is subject mandate certain 
disclosure requirements and regulate the manner in which we must deal with customers when taking deposits from, making 
loans to, or engaging in other types of transactions with, our customers.

In May 2020, the OCC finalized its “true lender” rule to address the legal uncertainty regarding the effect of a transfer 
on a loan’s permissible interest rate caused by the Second Circuit’s 2015 decision in Madden v. Midland Funding, LLC. The 
rule clarified that when a national bank (or federal savings bank, such as the Bank) sells, assigns, or otherwise transfers a loan, 
the interest permissible before the transfer continues to be permissible after the transfer. On June 30, 2021, President Biden 
signed a Congressional Review Act resolution repealing the OCC’s true lender rule. The repeal creates uncertainty regarding 
the ability of nonbank loan purchasers to collect interest on loans originated by a national bank or federal savings bank as 
originally agreed, which may impact the Company’s decision to participate in this type of lending in the future. 

Privacy Standards and Cybersecurity. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLBA”) modernized the financial services 
industry by establishing a comprehensive framework to permit affiliations among commercial banks, insurance companies, 
securities firms and other financial service providers. The Bank is subject to OCC regulations implementing the privacy 
protection provisions of the GLBA. These regulations require the Bank to disclose its privacy policy, including informing 
consumers of its information sharing practices and informing consumers of their rights to opt out of certain practices.

State regulators have been increasingly active in implementing privacy and cybersecurity standards and regulations. 
Recently, several states have adopted regulations requiring certain financial institutions to implement cybersecurity programs 
and providing detailed requirements with respect to these programs, including data encryption requirements. Many states have 
also recently implemented or modified their data breach notification and data privacy requirements. The California Consumer 
Privacy Act of 2018 (as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act), which covers businesses that collect and use personal 
information on California resident consumers, grants consumers enhanced privacy rights and control over their personal 
information and imposes significant requirements on covered companies with respect to consumer data privacy rights.

New laws or changes to existing laws, including privacy-related enforcement activity, increase our operating and 
compliance costs (including technology costs) and could reduce income from certain business initiatives or restrict our ability to 
provide certain products and services. Our failure to comply with privacy, data protection and information security laws could 
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result in significant regulatory or governmental investigations or actions, litigation, fines, sanctions, and damage to our 
reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Bank Secrecy Act and Anti-Money Laundering

The Bank, its affiliated broker-dealers and in certain cases Axos Financial, Inc., are subject to the Bank Secrecy Act 
and other anti-money laundering laws and regulations, including the USA PATRIOT Act. The Bank Secrecy Act requires all 
financial institutions to, among other things, establish a risk-based system of internal controls reasonably designed to prevent 
money laundering and the financing of terrorism. The Bank Secrecy Act includes various record keeping and reporting 
requirements such as cash transaction and suspicious activity reporting as well as due diligence requirements. The USA 
PATRIOT Act gives the federal government broad powers to address terrorist threats through enhanced domestic security 
measures, expanded surveillance powers, increased information sharing, and broadened anti-money laundering 
requirements. Failure of a financial institution to maintain and implement adequate programs to combat money laundering and 
terrorist financing could have serious legal and reputational consequences for the institution. 

Office of Foreign Assets Control Regulation and Anti-Corruption

The Bank and its affiliated broker-dealers are also required to comply with the U.S. Treasury’s Office of Foreign 
Assets Control imposed economic sanctions that affect transactions with designated foreign countries, nationals, individuals, 
entities and others. These are typically known as the “OFAC rules,” based on their administration by the U.S. Treasury 
Department Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”). The OFAC-administered sanctions targeting countries take many 
different forms. Generally, however, they contain one or more of the following elements: (i) restrictions on trade with, or 
investment in, a sanctioned country, including prohibitions against direct or indirect imports from, and exports to, a sanctioned 
country and prohibitions on “U.S. persons” engaging in financial transactions relating to making investments in, or providing 
investment-related advice or assistance to, a sanctioned country; and (ii) a blocking of assets in which the government or 
specially designated nationals of the sanctioned country have an interest, by prohibiting transfers of property subject to U.S. 
jurisdiction (including property in the possession or control of U.S. persons). Blocked assets (e.g., property and bank deposits) 
cannot be paid out, withdrawn, set off, or transferred in any manner without a license from OFAC. We are also subject to the 
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other laws and regulations worldwide regarding corrupt and illegal payments, or 
providing anything of value, for the benefit of government officials and others. Failure to comply with these sanctions and the 
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or similar laws and regulations, could have serious legal and reputational consequences.

REGULATION OF SECURITIES BUSINESS

Our correspondent clearing and custodial firm Axos Clearing, and introducing broker Axos Invest LLC, are broker-
dealers registered with the SEC and members of FINRA and various other self-regulatory organizations. Axos Clearing also 
uses various clearing organizations, including the Depository Trust Company, the National Securities Clearing Corporation, 
Euroclear and the Options Clearing Corporation. 

Our broker-dealers are registered with the SEC, FINRA, all 50 U.S. states and the District of Columbia. Much of the 
regulation of broker-dealers, however, has been delegated to self-regulatory organizations, principally FINRA, the Municipal 
Securities Rulemaking Board or national securities exchanges. These self-regulatory organizations adopt rules (which are 
subject to approval by the SEC) for governing their members and the industry. Broker-dealers are also subject to federal 
regulation and the securities laws of each state where they conduct business. Our broker-dealers are members of, and are 
primarily subject to regulation, supervision and regular examination by FINRA.

Broker-dealers are subject to extensive laws, rules and regulations covering all aspects of the Securities Business, 
including sales and trading practices, public offerings, publication of research reports, use and safekeeping of clients’ funds and 
securities, capital adequacy, record keeping and reporting, the conduct of directors, officers, and employees, qualification and 
licensing of supervisory and sales personnel, marketing practices, supervisory and organizational procedures intended to ensure 
compliance with securities laws and to prevent improper trading on material nonpublic information, limitations on extensions of 
credit in securities transactions, clearance and settlement procedures, and rules designed to promote high standards of 
commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade. Broker-dealers are regulated by state securities administrators in 
those jurisdictions where they do business. Regulators may conduct periodic examinations and review reports of our operations, 
controls, supervision, performance, and financial condition. Our broker-dealers’ margin lending is regulated by the Federal 
Reserve Board’s restrictions on lending in connection with client purchases and short sales of securities, and FINRA rules 
require our broker-dealers to impose maintenance requirements based on the value of securities contained in margin accounts. 
The rules of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which are enforced by the SEC and FINRA, apply to the municipal 
securities activities of Axos Clearing and Axos Invest LLC.

Violations of laws, rules and regulations governing a broker-dealer’s actions could result in censure, penalties and 
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fines, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders, the restriction, suspension, or expulsion from the securities industry of such 
broker-dealer, its registered representatives, officers or employees, or other similar adverse consequences. 

Significant new rules and regulations continue to arise as a result of the Dodd-Frank Act, including the implementation 
of a more stringent fiduciary standard for broker-dealers and increased regulation of investment advisers. Compliance with 
these provisions could result in increased costs. Moreover, to the extent the Dodd-Frank Act affects the operations, financial 
condition, liquidity, and capital requirements of financial institutions with whom we do business, those institutions may seek to 
pass on increased costs, reduce their capacity to transact, or otherwise present inefficiencies in their interactions with us. 

Limitation on Businesses. The businesses that our broker-dealers may conduct are limited by its agreements with, and 
its oversight by, FINRA, other regulatory authorities and federal and state law. Participation in new business lines, including 
trading of new products or participation on new exchanges or in new countries often requires governmental and/or exchange 
approvals, which may take significant time and resources. In addition, our broker-dealers are operating subsidiaries of Axos, 
which means their activities may be further limited by those that are permissible for subsidiaries of financial holding 
companies, and as a result, may be prevented from entering new businesses that may be profitable in a timely manner, if at all. 

Net Capital Requirements. The SEC, FINRA and various other regulatory authorities have stringent rules and 
regulations with respect to the maintenance of specific levels of net capital by regulated entities. Rule 15c3-1 of the Exchange 
Act (the “Net Capital Rule”) requires that a broker-dealer maintain minimum net capital. Generally, a broker-dealer’s net 
capital is net worth plus qualified subordinated debt less deductions for non-allowable (or non-liquid) assets and other 
adjustments and operational charges. At June 30, 2023, our broker-dealers were in compliance with applicable net capital 
requirements. 

The SEC, FINRA and other regulatory organizations impose rules that require notification when net capital falls below 
certain predefined thresholds. These rules dictate the ratio of debt-to-equity in the regulatory capital composition of a broker-
dealer, and constrain the ability of a broker-dealer to expand its business under certain circumstances. If a broker-dealer fails to 
maintain the required net capital, it may be subject to penalties and other regulatory sanctions, including suspension or 
revocation of registration by the SEC or applicable regulatory authorities, and suspension or expulsion by these regulators could 
ultimately lead to the broker-dealer’s liquidation. Additionally, the Net Capital Rule and certain FINRA rules impose 
requirements that may have the effect of prohibiting a broker-dealer from distributing or withdrawing capital and requiring 
prior notice to, and approval from, the SEC and FINRA for certain capital withdrawals. 

Compliance with the net capital requirements may limit our operations, requiring the intensive use of capital. Such 
rules require that a certain percentage of a broker-dealer’s assets be maintained in relatively liquid form and therefore act to 
restrict our ability to withdraw capital from our broker-dealer entities, which in turn may limit our ability to pay dividends, 
repay debt or redeem or purchase shares of our outstanding common stock. Any change in such rules or the imposition of new 
rules affecting the scope, coverage, calculation or amount of capital requirements, or a significant operating loss or any 
unusually large charge against capital, could adversely affect our ability to pay dividends, repay debt, meet our debt covenant 
requirements or to expand or maintain our operations. In addition, such rules may require us to make substantial capital 
contributions into one or more of the our broker-dealers in order for such subsidiaries to comply with such rules, either in the 
form of cash or subordinated loans made in accordance with the requirements of all applicable net capital rules. 

Customer Protection Rule. Our broker-dealers that hold customers’ funds and securities are subject to the SEC’s 
customer protection rule (Rule 15c3-3 under the Exchange Act), which generally provides that such broker-dealers maintain 
physical possession or control of all fully-paid securities and excess margin securities carried for the account of customers and 
maintain certain reserves of cash or qualified securities. 

Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPC”). Our broker-dealers are subject to the Securities Investor 
Protection Act and belong to SIPC, whose primary function is to provide financial protection for the customers of failing 
brokerage firms. SIPC provides protection for customers up to $500,000, of which a maximum of $250,000 may be in cash. 

Anti-Money Laundering. Our broker-dealers must comply with the USA PATRIOT Act and other rules and 
regulations, including FINRA requirements, designed to fight international money laundering and to block terrorist access to 
the U.S. financial system. We are required to have systems and procedures to ensure compliance with such laws and 
regulations. 

Form Customer Relationship Summary (“Form CRS”). The SEC Form CRS requires registered investment advisors 
and broker-dealers to deliver to retail investors a succinct, plain English summary about the relationship and services provided 
by the firm and the required standard of conduct associated with the relationship and services. 
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Axos Financial, Inc. files reports, proxy and information statements and other information electronically with the SEC. 
The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding 
issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The SEC’s website site address is http://www.sec.gov. Our web site address is 
http://www.axosfinancial.com, and we make our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current 
Reports on Form 8-K, amendments thereto and various other documents, including documents to comply with our obligations 
under Regulation FD, available on our website free of charge. Accordingly, investors should monitor our website in addition to 
following and reviewing our press releases, filings with the SEC and public conference calls and other presentations.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock is subject to risks inherent in our business. Before making an investment decision, you 
should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below together with all of the other information included in this 
report. In addition to the risks and uncertainties described below, other risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that 
we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. Risks disclosed in this section may have already materialized. The value or market price of our common stock could 
decline due to any of these identified or other risks, and you could lose all or part of your investment. This report is qualified in 
its entirety by these risk factors.

Risks Relating to Macroeconomic Conditions

Changes in interest rates could adversely affect our performance.

Our results of operations depend to a great extent on our net interest income, which is the difference between the 
interest rates earned on interest-earning assets such as loans and investment securities, and the interest rates paid on interest-
bearing liabilities such as deposits and borrowings. We are exposed to interest rate risk because our interest-earning assets and 
interest-bearing liabilities do not react uniformly or concurrently to changes in interest rates, as the two have different time 
periods for adjustment and can be tied to different measures of rates. Interest rates are sensitive to factors that are beyond our 
control, including domestic and international economic conditions, including inflation, and the policies of various governmental 
and regulatory agencies, including the Federal Reserve. The monetary policies of the Federal Reserve, implemented through 
open market operations, the federal funds rate targets, and the discount rate for banking borrowings and reserve requirements, 
affect prevailing interest rates. A material change in any of these policies could have a material impact on us or our customers 
(including borrowers), and therefore on our results of operations. Since maintaining a federal funds rate target in the range of 
0% to 0.25% from March 2020 through 2021, the Federal Reserve made multiple rate increases during 2022 and 2023 
increasing the target federal funds rate to a range of 5.00% to 5.25% as of June 2023, and subsequently to a range of 5.25% to 
5.50% as of August 2023. The future direction and levels of interest rates remain uncertain.

Loan originations and repayment rates tend to increase with declining interest rates and decrease with rising interest 
rates. Increases in interest rates can negatively impact our business, including a possible reduction in customers’ or potential 
customers’ desire to borrow money or adversely affecting customers’ ability to repay on outstanding loans by increasing their 
debt obligations. On the deposit side, increasing interest rates generally lead to interest rate increases on our deposit accounts. 
While we manage the sensitivity of our assets and liabilities, large, unanticipated, or rapid increases in market interest rates may 
have an adverse impact on our net interest income and could decrease our mortgage refinancing business and related fee 
income, and could cause an increase in delinquencies and non-performing loans and leases in our adjustable-rate loans. In 
addition, interest rate volatility can affect the value of our loans and leases, investments and other interest-rate sensitive assets 
and our ability to realize gains on the sale or resolution of these assets, which in turn may affect our liquidity. There can be no 
assurance that we will be able to successfully manage our interest rate risk. 

A significant or sustained economic downturn could result in increases in our level of non-performing loans and 
leases and/or reduce demand for our products and services, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Our business and results of operations are affected by the financial markets and general economic conditions, 
including factors such as the level and volatility of interest rates, inflation, home prices, unemployment and under-employment 
levels, bankruptcies, household income and consumer spending. We operate in an uncertain economic environment due to a 
variety of other reasons including, but not limited to, trade policies and tariffs, geopolitical tensions, including escalating 
military tensions in Europe as a result of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, volatile energy prices and uncertain continuing effects of 
the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic. The risks associated with our business become more acute in periods of a slowing 
economy or slow growth. Furthermore, given our high concentration of loans secured by real estate in California and New 
York, the Company remains particularly susceptible to a downturn in those states’ economies. These negative events may cause 
us to incur losses and may adversely affect our capital, financial condition and results of operations.

22



The specific impact on us of unfavorable or uncertain economic or market conditions is difficult to predict, could be 
long or short term, and may be direct or indirect. A worsening of business and economic conditions generally or specifically in 
the principal markets in which we conduct business could have adverse effects, including the following:

• a decrease in the demand for, or the availability of, loans and other products and services we offer;

• a decrease in deposit balances, including low-cost and noninterest bearing deposits, and changes in our interest rate 
mix toward higher-cost deposits;

• an increase in the number of borrowers who become delinquent, file for protection under bankruptcy laws or default 
on their loans or other obligations to us, which could lead to higher levels of nonperforming assets, net charge-offs, 
and provisions for credit losses;

• a decrease in the value of loans and other assets secured by collateral such as consumer or commercial real estate;

•  a decrease in net interest income from our lending and deposit gathering activities;

• an impairment of certain intangible assets such as goodwill; 

• an increase in competition resulting from increasing consolidation within the financial services industry; and

• an increase in borrowing costs in excess of changes in the rate at which we reinvest funds.

Inflation could negatively impact our business and our profitability.

Prolonged periods of inflation may impact our profitability by negatively impacting our non-interest expenses, 
including increasing expense related to talent acquisition and retention. Additionally, inflation may lead to a decrease in 
consumer and clients purchasing power and negatively affect the need or demand for our products and services. If significant 
inflation continues, our business could be negatively affected by, among other things, increased default rates leading to credit 
losses which could decrease our willingness to offer new credit extensions. These inflationary pressures could adversely affect 
our results of operations or financial condition.

The value of our securities in our investment portfolio may decline in the future.

The fair market value of our investment securities may be adversely affected by general economic and market 
conditions, including changes in interest rates, credit spreads, and the occurrence of any events adversely affecting the issuer of 
particular securities in our investments portfolio or any given market segment or industry in which we are invested. We analyze 
our available-for-sale securities on a quarterly basis to measure any impairment and potential credit losses. The process for 
determining impairment and any credit losses usually requires complex, subjective judgments about the future financial 
performance of the issuer in order to assess the probability of receiving principal and interest payments sufficient to recover our 
amortized cost of the security. Because of changing economic and market conditions affecting issuers, we may be required to 
recognize credit losses in future periods, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations.

The weakness of other financial institutions or other companies in the financial services industries could adversely 
affect us.

Our ability to engage in routine funding transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and commercial 
soundness of other financial institutions. Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, 
counterparty and other relationships. We have exposure to many different counterparties, and we routinely execute transactions 
with counterparties in the financial industry, including brokers-dealers, other commercial banks, investment banks, mutual and 
hedge funds, and other financial institutions. As a result, defaults by, or even rumors or questions about, one or more financial 
services institutions, or the financial services industry generally, could lead to market-wide liquidity problems and losses or 
defaults by us or by other institutions and organizations. Many of these transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of 
default of our counterparty or client. In addition, our credit risk may be exacerbated when the collateral held by us cannot be 
liquidated, liquidated timely or is liquidated at prices not sufficient to recover the full amount of the financial instrument 
exposure due to us. There is no assurance that any such losses would not materially and adversely affect our results of 
operations. Events, both actual or rumored, involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse 
developments that affect other companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally have in 
the past, and may in the future, lead to erosion of customer confidence in the financial services industry, deposit volatility, 
liquidity issues, stock price volatility and other adverse developments, including increased regulatory oversight, increased 
premiums for the FDIC insurance program, higher capital requirements or changes in the way regulatory capital is calculated, 
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and impositions of additional restrictions through regulatory changes or supervisory or enforcement activities. As a result, our 
operating margins, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Replacement of the LIBOR benchmark interest rate may have an impact on our business, financial condition or results 
of operations. 

LIBOR and certain other interest rate benchmarks are the subject of national, international, and other regulatory 
guidance and reform. Effective January 1, 2022, the administrator of LIBOR ceased the publication of one-week and two-
month US dollar LIBOR and ceased the publications of the remaining tenors of US dollar LIBOR (one, three, six, and 12-
month) after June 30, 2023. Generally, all loans we originated since 2017 have contract language that allowed us to replace 
LIBOR with an alternative index. All of our variable rate mortgage loans underwritten for the U.S. Government Agencies 
(FNMA, FHLMC & FHA/VA) after December 31, 2020 have used SOFR as the benchmark index. All other variable rate loans 
approved after December 31, 2021 do not use LIBOR as the benchmark index and have instead used primarily SOFR, 
Ameribor or BSBY (“Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index”) as the benchmark index. Prior to July 1, 2023, the date 
LIBOR ceased to be available, we transitioned all remaining loans in our portfolio that were leveraging LIBOR as the 
benchmark index to other indices, primarily SOFR, Ameribor or BSBY, and notified borrowers of the change in accordance 
with the applicable contractual and regulatory requirements.

The market transition away from LIBOR to alternative reference rates is complex and could have a range of adverse 
effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In particular, the transition could prompt inquiries or other 
actions from regulators regarding our replacement of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate and result in disputes, litigation 
or other actions with counterparties regarding the interpretation and enforceability of certain fallback language in securities that 
were LIBOR-based.

Risks Relating to Regulation of our Business

Changes in laws, regulations or oversight or increased enforcement activities by regulatory agencies may increase our 
costs and adversely affect our business and operations.

We operate in a highly regulated industry and are subject to oversight, regulation and examination by federal and/or 
state governmental authorities under various laws, regulations and policies, which impose requirements or restrictions on our 
operations, capitalization, payment of dividends, mergers and acquisitions, investments, loans and interest rates charged and 
interest rates paid on deposits. We must also comply with federal anti-money laundering, bank secrecy, tax withholding and 
reporting, and various consumer protection statutes and regulations. A considerable amount of management time and resources 
is devoted to oversight of, and development, implementation and execution of controls and procedures relating to, compliance 
with these laws, regulations and policies. 

The laws, rules, regulations and supervisory policies governing our business are intended primarily for the protection 
of our depositors, our customers, the financial system and the FDIC insurance fund, not our stockholders or other creditors and 
are subject to regular modification and change. New or amended laws, rules, regulations and policies, including potential 
changes under consideration in response to recent highly-publicized bank failures, could impact our operations, increase our 
capital requirements or substantially restrict our growth and adversely affect our ability to operate profitably by making 
compliance more difficult or expensive, restrict our ability to originate or sell loans, or impact the amount of interest or other 
charges or fees earned on loans or other products. In addition, further regulation, including in response to recent highly-
publicized bank failures, could increase the assessment rate we are required to pay to the FDIC, adversely affecting our 
earnings. It is very difficult to predict future changes in regulation or the competitive impact that any such changes would have 
on our business. Any new laws, rules and regulations could make compliance more difficult, expensive, costly to implement or 
may otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition or growth prospects. Other changes to statutes, regulations, or 
regulatory policies, including changes in interpretation or implementation of statutes, regulations, or policies, could affect us in 
substantial and unpredictable ways including subjecting us to additional costs, limiting the types of financial services and 
products we may offer, and increasing the ability of non-banks to offer competing financial services and products. 

The Bank Secrecy Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, and similar laws and regulations require financial institutions, among 
other duties, to institute and maintain effective anti-money laundering programs and to file suspicious activity and currency 
transaction reports as appropriate. The Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, a bureau of the United States Department of 
Treasury, is authorized to impose significant civil money penalties for violations of those requirements and has engaged in 
coordinated enforcement efforts with the individual federal banking regulators, as well as the U.S. Department of Justice, Drug 
Enforcement Administration and the Internal Revenue Service. There is also increased scrutiny of compliance with the rules 
enforced by the OFAC. Federal and state bank regulators have focused on compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act and anti-
money laundering regulations. If our policies, procedures and systems are deemed deficient, we would be subject to liability, 
including fines and regulatory actions such as restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and the necessity to obtain regulatory 
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approval to proceed with acquisitions and other strategic transactions, which could negatively impact our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects. Failure to maintain and implement adequate programs to combat money 
laundering and terrorist financing could have material adverse reputational consequences for us.

Our failure to comply with current, or adapt to new or changing, laws, regulations or policies could result in 
enforcement actions and sanctions against us by regulatory agencies, civil money penalties and/or reputation damage, along 
with corrective action plans required by regulatory agencies, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations, and the value of our common stock. 

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to changes in federal and state tax laws and the interpretation of 
existing laws and examinations and challenges by taxing authorities. 

Our financial performance is impacted by federal and state tax laws. Given the current economic and political 
environment and ongoing budgetary pressures, the enactment of new federal or state legislation or new interpretations of 
existing tax laws could adversely impact our tax position, in some circumstances retroactively. The Inflation Reduction Act (the 
“IRA”), which establishes a new 15% corporate alternative minimum tax on adjusted book income (of corporations that have an 
average adjusted book income in excess of $1 billion over a three tax year period) for tax years beginning after December 31, 
2022, may impact the Company’s cash tax payments and tax credit carryforward balances. The IRA includes a nondeductible 
1% excise tax on certain repurchases of corporate stock for transactions occurring after December 31, 2022, which would likely 
increase the Company’s cost of any future share repurchases. The consequences of the IRA, the enactment of new federal or 
state tax legislation, or changes in the interpretation of existing law, including provisions impacting income tax rates, 
apportionment, consolidation or combination, income, expenses, and credits, may have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity. 

In the normal course of business, we are routinely subjected to examinations and audits from federal, state, and local 
taxing authorities regarding tax positions taken by us and the determination of the amount of taxes due. These examinations 
may relate to income, franchise, gross receipts, payroll, property, sales and use, or other tax returns. The challenges made by 
taxing authorities may result in adjustments to the amount of taxes due and may result in the imposition of penalties and 
interest. If any such challenges are not resolved in our favor, they could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

Our broker-dealer and investment advisory businesses subjects us to regulatory risks. 

Our broker-dealer and investment advisory business subjects us to regulation by the SEC, FINRA, other self-
regulatory organizations (“SROs”), state securities commissions, and other regulatory bodies. Violations of the laws and 
regulations governed by these agencies could result in censure, penalties and fines, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders, the 
restriction, suspension, or expulsion from the securities industry of the Company or its officers or employees, or other similar 
adverse consequences, any of which could cause us to incur losses and adversely affect our capital, financial condition and 
results of operations. The SEC, FINRA and other SROs and state securities commissions, among other regulatory bodies, can 
censure, fine, issue cease-and-desist orders or suspend or expel a broker-dealer or any of its officers or employees. Clearing 
securities firms are subject to substantially more regulatory control and examination than introducing brokers that rely on others 
to perform clearing functions. Similarly, the attorney general of each state could bring legal action to ensure compliance with 
state securities laws, and regulatory agencies in foreign countries have similar authority. Our ability to comply with multiple 
laws and regulations pertaining to the securities industry depends in large part on our ability to establish and maintain an 
effective compliance function. The failure to establish and enforce reasonable compliance procedures, even if unintentional, 
could subject us to significant losses or disciplinary or other actions. Federally registered investment advisers are regulated and 
subject to examination by the SEC. In addition, the Advisers Act imposes numerous obligations on our investment advisory 
business, including fiduciary duties, disclosure obligations, recordkeeping and reporting requirements, marketing restrictions 
and general anti-fraud prohibitions. Our failure to comply with the Advisers Act and associated rules and regulations of the 
SEC could subject us to enforcement proceedings and sanctions for violations, including censure or termination of SEC 
registration, litigation and reputational harm. In addition, our investment advisory business is subject to notice filings and the 
anti-fraud rules of state securities regulators. See “Regulation of Securities Business.”
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Policies and regulations enacted by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau may negatively impact our residential 
mortgage loan business and compliance risk.

Our consumer business, including our mortgage and deposit businesses, may be adversely affected by the policies 
enacted or regulations adopted by the CFPB, which, under the Dodd-Frank Act, has broad rule-making authority over consumer 
financial products and services. The CFPB is in the process of reshaping consumer financial protection laws through rule-
making and enforcement against unfair, deceptive and abusive acts or practices.  The CFPB has been directed to write rules 
identifying practices or acts that are unfair, deceptive or abusive in connection with any transaction with a consumer for a 
consumer financial product or service, or the offering of a consumer financial product or service. The prohibition on “abusive” 
acts or practices has been clarified each year by CFPB enforcement actions and opinions from courts and administrative 
proceedings, and in April 2023, the CFPB issued a Policy Statement on Abusive Acts or Practices, which may impact our 
consumer product and service offerings. While it is difficult to quantify any future increases in our regulatory compliance 
burden, the costs associated with regulatory compliance, including the need to hire additional compliance personnel, may 
continue to increase.

Risks Relating to Commercial Loans, Mortgage Loans and Mortgage-Backed Securities

Declining real estate values, particularly in California and New York, could reduce the value of our loan and lease 
portfolio and impair our profitability and financial condition.

The majority of the loans in our portfolio are secured by real estate. At June 30, 2023, approximately 41.3% and 
25.2% of our real estate loan portfolio was secured by real estate located in California and New York, respectively. In recent 
years, there has been significant volatility in real estate values. If real estate values decrease or more of our borrowers 
experience financial difficulties, we will experience increased charge-offs, as the proceeds resulting from foreclosure may be 
significantly lower than the amounts outstanding on such loans and the time to foreclose may be extended. In addition, 
declining real estate values frequently accompany periods of economic downturn or recession and increasing unemployment, all 
of which can lead to lower demand for mortgage loans of the types we originate and impact the ability of borrowers to repay 
their loans. A decline of real estate values or decline of the credit position of our borrowers could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Many of our mortgage loans are multifamily residential loans and defaults on such loans would harm our business.

At June 30, 2023, our multifamily residential loans were $3.1 billion or 18.5% of our loan portfolio. The payment on 
such loans is typically dependent on the cash flows generated by the projects, which are affected by the supply and demand for 
multifamily residential units and commercial property within the relative market. If the market for multifamily residential units 
and commercial property experiences a decline in demand, multifamily and commercial borrowers may suffer losses on their 
projects and be unable to repay their loans. If residential housing values were to decline or nationwide unemployment levels 
rise, we are likely to experience increases in the level of our non-performing loans and foreclosures in future periods.

A decrease in the mortgage buying activity of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and MBS’s guaranteed by Ginnie Mae or a 
failure by Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae, and Freddie Mac to satisfy their obligations with respect to their RMBS could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

During the last three fiscal years we have sold approximately $2.2 billion of residential mortgage loans to Fannie Mae 
and Freddie Mac and into MBS guaranteed by Ginnie Mae. As of June 30, 2023, approximately 10.3% of our securities 
portfolio consisted of RMBS issued or guaranteed by these GSEs. Since 2008, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have been in 
conservatorship, with its primary regulator, the Federal Housing Finance Agency, acting as conservator. The United States 
government may enact structural changes to one or more of the GSEs, including privatization, consolidation and/or a reduction 
in the ability of GSEs to purchase mortgage loans or guarantee mortgage obligations. We cannot predict if, when or how the 
conservatorships will end, or what associated changes (if any) may be made to the structure, mandate or overall business 
practices of either of the GSEs. Accordingly, there continues to be uncertainty regarding the future of the GSEs, including 
whether they will continue to exist in their current form and whether they will continue to meet their obligations with respect to 
their RMBS. A substantial reduction in mortgage purchasing activity by the GSEs could result in a material decrease in the 
availability of residential mortgage loans and the number of qualified borrowers, which in turn may lead to increased volatility 
in the residential housing market, including a decrease in demand for residential housing and a corresponding drop in the value 
of real property that secures current residential mortgage loans, as well as a significant increase in interest rates. In a rising or 
higher interest rate environment, our originations of mortgage loans may decrease, which would result in a decrease in 
mortgage loan revenues and a corresponding decrease in non-interest income. Any decision to change the structure, mandate or 
overall business practices of the GSEs and/or the relationship among the GSEs, the government and the private mortgage loan 
markets, or any failure by the GSEs to satisfy their obligations with respect to their RMBS, could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Commercial and industrial and commercial real estate loans may expose our company to greater financial and credit 
risk than other loans.

Our commercial and industrial loans as well as our commercial real estate – mortgage portfolio was approximately 
$2,639.7 million and $6,199.8 million at June 30, 2023, comprising approximately 15.8% and 37.2% of our total loan portfolio, 
respectively. Commercial loans generally carry large balances and may involve a greater degree of financial and credit risk than 
other loans. Any significant failure to pay on time by our customers could impact our earnings. The increased financial and 
credit risk associated with these types of loans are a result of several factors, including the concentration of principal in a 
limited number of loans and borrowers, the types of business and collateral, the size of loan balances, the effects of nationwide 
and regional economic conditions on income-producing properties and businesses and the increased difficulty of evaluating and 
monitoring these types of loans. Declines in real estate markets or sustained economic downturns increases the risk of credit 
losses or charge-offs related to our loans or foreclosures on certain real estate properties. If we foreclose on these loans, our 
holding period for the collateral typically is longer than residential properties because there are fewer potential purchasers of the 
collateral.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a potentially long-term negative impact on certain commercial real estate portfolios 
due to the risk that tenants may reduce the office space they lease as some portion of the workforce continues to work remotely 
on a hybrid or fulltime basis. Additionally, the shift from traditional brick-and-mortar retail toward e-commerce has been 
accelerated as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and may negatively impact the values of retail-focused commercial real 
estate and related collateral.

Our mortgage origination business is subject to fluctuations based upon seasonal and other factors and, as a result, 
our results of operations for any given quarter may not be indicative of the results that may be achieved for the full fiscal year.

Our mortgage origination business is subject to several variables that can impact loan origination volume, including 
seasonal and interest rate fluctuations. We typically experience increased loan origination volume from purchases of homes 
during the second and third calendar quarters, when more people tend to move and buy or sell homes. In addition, an increase in 
the general level of interest rates may, among other things, adversely affect the demand for mortgage loans and our ability to 
originate mortgage loans. In particular, if mortgage interest rates increase, the demand for residential mortgage loans and the 
refinancing of residential mortgage loans will likely decrease, which will have an adverse effect on our mortgage origination 
activities. Conversely, a decrease in the general level of interest rates, among other things, may lead to increased competition 
for mortgage loan origination business.

As a result of these variables, our results of operations for any single quarter are not necessarily indicative of the 
results that may be achieved for a full fiscal year or any other quarter.

Risks Relating to our Business Operations

Our results of operations could vary as a result of the methods, estimates, and judgments that we use in applying our 
accounting policies, including with respect to our allowance for credit losses.

From time to time, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) and the SEC change the financial 
accounting and reporting standards that govern the preparation of our financial statements. In addition, the FASB, SEC, bank 
regulators and outside independent auditors may revise their previous interpretations regarding existing accounting regulations 
and the application of these accounting standards. The methods, estimates and judgments that we use in applying our 
accounting policies have a significant impact on our results of operations. Such methods, estimates and judgments, include 
methodologies to value our securities, estimate our allowance for loan losses and the realization of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities. These methods, estimates and judgments are, by their nature, subject to substantial risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions, and factors may arise over time that lead us to change our methods, estimates and judgments. Changes in those 
methods, estimates and judgments could significantly affect our results of operations. These changes can be difficult to predict 
and can materially impact how we record and report our financial condition and results of operations.

27



If our allowance for credit losses is not sufficient to cover actual credit losses, our earnings, capital adequacy and 
overall financial condition may suffer materially.

Our loans are generally secured by single family, multifamily and commercial real estate properties or other 
commercial assets, each initially having a fair market value generally greater than the amount of the loan secured. Although our 
loans and leases are typically secured, the risk of default, generally due to a borrower’s inability to make scheduled payments 
on his or her loan, is an inherent risk of the Banking Business. In determining the amount of the allowance for loan and lease 
losses, we make various assumptions and judgments about the collectibility of our loan and lease portfolio, including the 
creditworthiness of our borrowers, the value of the real estate serving as collateral for the repayment of our loans and our loss 
history. Defaults by borrowers could result in losses that exceed our loan and lease loss reserves. We may not have sufficient 
repayment experience to be certain whether the established allowance for loan and lease losses is adequate for certain types of 
loans and leases. We may have to establish a larger allowance for loan and lease losses in the future if, in our judgment, it 
becomes necessary. 

 To the extent that we fail to adequately address the risks associated with non-residential lending, particularly in C&I 
lending, we may experience increases in levels of non-performing loans and leases and be forced to incur additional loan and 
lease loss provision expense, which would adversely affect our net interest income and capital levels and reduce our 
profitability. For further information about our C&I lending business, please refer to “Business - Asset Origination and Fee 
Income Businesses - Commercial Real Estate Secured and Commercial Lending.”

While we believe we have established appropriate underwriting and ongoing monitoring policies and procedures for 
our lending activities, there can be no assurance that such underwriting and ongoing monitoring policies and procedures are, or 
will continue to be, appropriate or that losses on loans will not require increased allowances for loan and lease losses. Any 
increase in our allowance for loan and lease losses would increase our expenses and consequently may adversely affect our 
profitability, capital adequacy and overall financial condition.

Changes in the value of goodwill and other intangible assets could reduce our earnings.

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”), which, in general, requires that goodwill not be amortized, but rather tested for impairment at least 
annually at the reporting unit level using the two step approach. Testing for impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 
is performed annually and involves the identification of reporting units and the estimation of fair values. The estimation of fair 
values involves a high degree of judgment and subjectivity in the assumptions used. Changes in the local and national economy, 
the federal and state legislative and regulatory environments for financial institutions, the stock market, interest rates and other 
external factors (such as natural disasters or significant world events) may occur from time to time, often with great 
unpredictability, and may materially impact the fair value of publicly traded financial institutions and could result in an 
impairment charge at a future date.

Our risk management processes and procedures may not be effective in mitigating our risks.

We have established processes and procedures intended to identify, measure, monitor and control material risks to 
which we are subject, including, for example, credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, strategic risk and operational risk. If the 
models that we use to manage these risks are ineffective at predicting future losses or are otherwise inadequate, we may incur 
unexpected losses or otherwise be adversely affected. In addition, the information we use in managing our credit and other risks 
may be inaccurate or incomplete as a result of error or fraud, both of which may be difficult to detect and avoid. There may also 
be risks that exist, or that develop in the future, that we have not appropriately anticipated, identified or mitigated, including 
when processes or technology is changed or new products and services are introduced. If our risk management framework does 
not effectively identify and control our risks, we could suffer unexpected losses or be adversely affected, and that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Higher FDIC assessments could negatively impact profitability.

FDIC insurance premiums are risk based, and accordingly, higher premiums are charged to banks that have lower 
capital ratios or higher risk profiles, including increased construction and development and commercial and industrial lending, 
declining credit quality metrics, and increased brokered deposits and higher levels of borrowing. As a result, a decrease in the 
Bank’s capital ratios, or a negative evaluation by the FDIC, may increase the Bank’s net funding cost and reduce its earnings. 
Furthermore, recent activity in the banking industry, including certain highly-publicized bank failures, is expected to cause 
premiums of the FDIC’s deposit insurance program to increase.

Our broker-dealer business subjects us to a variety of risks associated with the securities industry. 

Our broker-dealer business subjects us to a number of risks and challenges, including risks related to our ability to 
integrate the acquired operations and the associated internal controls and regulatory functions into our current operations; our 
ability to retain key personnel; our ability to limit the outflow of acquired deposits and successfully retain and manage acquired 
assets; our ability to retain existing correspondents who may choose to perform their own clearing services, move their clearing 
business to one of our competitors or exit the business; our ability to attract new customers and generate new assets in areas not 
previously served; and the possible assumption of risks and liabilities related to litigation or regulatory proceedings involving 
the acquired operations. 

In addition, the broker-dealer business may subject us to risks related to the movement of equity prices. For example, 
if securities prices decline rapidly, the value of our collateral could fall below the amount of the indebtedness secured by these 
securities, and in rapidly appreciating markets, our risk of loss may increase due to short positions. The securities lending and 
securities trading and execution businesses subject us to risk of loss if a counterparty fails to perform or if collateral securing 
the counterparty’s obligations is insufficient. In securities transactions generally, we may be subject to market risk during the 
period between the execution of a trade and its settlement. Significant failures by our customers, including correspondents, or 
clients to honor their obligations, or increases in their rates of default, together with insufficient collateral and reserves, could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, poor 
investment returns and declines in client assets, due to either general market conditions or under-performance (relative to our 
competitors or to benchmarks) of our investment products, may affect our ability to retain existing assets, prevent clients from 
transferring their assets out of products or their accounts, or inhibit our ability to attract new clients or additional assets from 
existing clients. Any such poor performance could adversely affect our advisory and custody business and the fees that we earn 
on client assets.

Our broker-dealer business is also subject to regulatory requirements and risks discussed above under “Our broker-
dealer and investment advisory businesses subjects us to regulatory risks”. Our broker-dealer business exposes us to other risks 
and uncertainties that are common in the securities industry, including intense competition, and potentially new areas and types 
of litigation including lawsuits based on allegations concerning our correspondents. For example, we allow our brokerage 
customers to engage in self-directed trading, and there has been an increase in regulatory enforcement and securities litigation 
against broker-dealers with self-directed trading platforms. These actions may become more common or frequent, particularly if 
there is a prolonged decrease in equity prices resulting in investor losses. Allegations of violations of securities laws or FINRA 
rules, even if not ultimately asserted or proved, could substantially impact our results of operations and lead to reputational 
harm. 

The regulatory environment in which our broker dealer business operates is subject to frequent change. Our business, 
financial condition and operating results may be adversely affected as a result of new or revised legislation or regulations 
imposed by the U.S. Congress, the SEC, FINRA or other U.S. and state governmental and regulatory authorities. The business, 
financial condition and operating results of our broker-dealer business may be adversely affected by changes in the 
interpretation and enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental and regulatory authorities. 

Our broker-dealer business is subject to the net capital requirements of the SEC, FINRA and various self-regulatory 
organizations. These requirements typically specify the minimum level of net capital a broker-dealer must maintain and 
mandate that a significant part of its assets be kept in relatively liquid form. Failure to maintain the required net capital may 
subject a firm to limitation of its activities, including suspension or revocation of its registration by the SEC and suspension or 
expulsion by FINRA and other regulatory bodies, and ultimately may require its liquidation. 
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We may seek additional capital, but it may not be available when it is needed, which would limit our ability to execute 
our strategic plan. In addition, raising additional equity capital would dilute existing stockholders’ equity interests and may 
cause our stock price to decline.

We are required by regulatory authorities to maintain adequate levels of capital to support our operations. In addition, 
we may elect to raise additional capital to support the growth of our business or to finance acquisitions, if any, or we may elect 
to raise additional capital for other reasons. We may seek to do so through the issuance of, among other things, our common 
stock or securities convertible into our common stock, which could dilute existing stockholders’ interests in the Company.

Our ability to raise additional capital, if needed, will depend on conditions in the capital markets, economic conditions, 
our financial performance and a number of other factors, many of which are outside our control. Accordingly, we cannot 
provide assurance on our ability to raise additional capital if needed or whether it can be raised on terms acceptable to us. If we 
cannot raise additional capital when needed or on terms acceptable to us, it may have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, raising equity capital will have a dilutive effect on the equity 
interests of our existing stockholders and may cause our stock price to decline.

Liquidity and access to adequate funding cannot be assured.

Liquidity is essential to our business and the inability to raise funds through deposits, borrowings, equity and debt 
offerings, or other sources could have a materially adverse effect on our liquidity. The Bank may not be able to meet the cash 
flow requirements of its customers who may be either depositors wanting to withdraw funds or borrowers needing assurance 
that sufficient funds will be available to meet their credit needs. Company specific factors such as a decline in our credit rating, 
an increase in the cost of capital from financial capital markets, a decrease in business activity due to adverse regulatory action 
or other company specific event, or a decrease in depositor or investor confidence may impair our access to funding with 
acceptable terms adequate to finance our activities. General factors related to the financial services industry such as a severe 
disruption in financial markets, a decrease in industry expectations, or a decrease in business activity due to political or 
environmental events may impair our access to liquidity. Our ability to attract and maintain depositors during a time of actual or 
perceived distress or instability in the banking industry may be limited. Additionally, we may accept brokered deposits, which 
may be more price sensitive than other types of deposits, and may become less available if alternative investments offer higher 
returns. We rely primarily upon deposits and FHLB advances. Our ability to attract deposits could be negatively impacted by a 
public perception of our financial prospects or by increased deposit rates available at troubled institutions suffering from 
shortfalls in liquidity. The FHLB advances and the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco (“FRBSF”) discount window are 
subject to regulation and other factors beyond our control. These factors may adversely affect the availability and pricing of 
advances to members such as the Bank. Selected sources of liquidity may become unavailable to the Bank if it were to no 
longer be considered “well-capitalized.”

A further reduction in our credit ratings could adversely affect our access to capital and could increase our cost of 
funds.

The credit rating agencies regularly evaluate the Company and the Bank, and credit ratings are based on a number of 
factors, including our financial strength and ability to generate earnings, as well as factors not entirely within our control, such 
as conditions affecting the financial services industry, the economy, and changes in rating methodologies more generally. On 
February 1, 2023, a credit rating agency, Moody’s Investors Service, downgraded the Company’s and the Bank’s long-term 
issuer ratings, among others. There can be no assurance that we will maintain our current credit ratings. A further downgrade of 
the credit ratings of the Company or the Bank could adversely affect our access to liquidity and capital and could significantly 
increase our cost of funds, trigger additional collateral or funding requirements, and decrease the number of investors and 
counterparties willing to lend to us or purchase our securities, thereby, potentially reducing our ability to generate earnings.
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Our inability to manage our growth or deploy assets profitably could harm our business and decrease our overall 
profitability, which may cause our stock price to decline.

Our assets and deposit base have grown substantially in recent years, and we anticipate that we will continue to grow 
over time, perhaps significantly. To manage the expected growth of our operations and personnel, we will be required to 
manage multiple aspects of the business simultaneously, including among other things: (i) improve existing and implement new 
transaction processing, operational and financial systems, procedures and controls; (ii) maintain effective credit scoring and 
underwriting guidelines; (iii) maintain sufficient levels of regulatory capital and liquidity; and (iv) expand our employee base 
and train and manage this growing employee base. In addition, acquiring other companies, asset pools or deposits may involve 
risks such as exposure to potential asset quality issues, disruption to our normal business activities and diversion of 
management’s time and attention due to integration and conversion efforts. If we are unable to manage growth effectively or 
execute integration efforts properly, we may not be able to achieve the anticipated benefits of growth and our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

In addition, we may not be able to sustain past levels of profitability as we grow, and our past levels of profitability 
should not be considered a guarantee or indicator of future success. If we are not able to maintain our levels of profitability by 
deploying deposits in profitable assets or investments, our net interest margin and overall level of profitability will decrease and 
our stock price may decline.

We depend on the accuracy and completeness of information about customers.

In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into certain transactions, we rely on information furnished by or on behalf 
of customers, including financial statements, credit reports, tax returns and other financial information. We may also rely on 
representations from customers or other third parties, such as independent auditors, as to the accuracy and completeness of that 
information. Reliance on inaccurate or misleading information, financial statements, credit reports, tax returns or other financial 
information, including information falsely provided as a result of identity theft, could have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

We face strong competition for customers and may not succeed in implementing our business strategy.

Our business strategy depends on our ability to remain competitive. There is strong competition for customers from 
existing financial institutions. Technology and other changes allow parties to complete financial transactions through alternative 
methods rather than through banks. Consumers can now maintain funds that would have historically been held as bank deposits 
in brokerage accounts, mutual funds or general-purpose reloadable prepaid cards. Consumers can also complete transactions, 
such as paying bills and/or transferring funds directly without the assistance of banks. The process of eliminating banks as 
intermediaries, known as “disintermediation,” could result in the loss of fee income, as well as the loss of customer deposits and 
the related income generated from those deposits. Technology has also lowered barriers to entry and made it possible for non-
bank, financial technology companies (“FinTechs”) to offer products and services traditionally provided by banks. FinTechs 
continue to emerge and compete with traditional financial institutions across a wide variety of products and services. 
Consumers have demonstrated a growing willingness to obtain banking services from FinTechs. As a result, our ability to 
remain competitive is increasingly dependent upon our ability to maintain critical technological capabilities, and to identify and 
develop new, value-added products for existing and future customers. Our competitors also include large, publicly-traded, 
internet-based banks, as well as smaller internet-based banks; “brick and mortar” banks, including those that have implemented 
websites to facilitate online banking; and traditional banking institutions such as thrifts, finance companies, credit unions and 
mortgage banks. Some of these competitors have been in business for a long time and have broader name recognition and a 
more established customer base. Most of our competitors are larger and have greater financial and personnel resources. In order 
to compete profitably, we may need to reduce the rates we offer on loans and leases and investments and increase the rates we 
offer on deposits, which actions may adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

To remain competitive, we believe we must successfully implement our business strategy. Our success depends on, 
among other things:

• Having a large and increasing number of customers who use our bank for their banking needs;
• Our ability to attract, hire and retain key personnel as our business grows;
• Our ability to secure additional capital as needed;
• The relevance of our products and services to customer needs and demands and the rate at which we and our 

competitors introduce or modify new products and services;
• Our ability to offer products and services with fewer employees than competitors;
• The satisfaction of our customers with our customer service;
• Ease of use of our websites and smartphone applications; 

31



• Our ability to provide a secure and stable technology platform for financial services that provides us with reliable 
and effective operational, financial and information systems; and

• Integration of our broker-dealer and registered investment-advisory businesses.

If we are unable to implement our business strategy, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of 
operations could be adversely affected.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and failing to maintain and enhance our brand could hurt our ability to 
maintain or expand our customer base. 

The brand identities that we have developed will significantly contribute to the success of our business. Maintaining 
and enhancing the “Axos” brands (including our other trade styles and trade names) is critical to expanding our customer base. 
We believe that the importance of brand recognition will increase due to the relatively low barriers to entry for our “brick and 
mortar” competitors in the internet-based banking market. Our brands could be negatively impacted by a number of factors, 
including data privacy and security issues, service outages, product malfunctions, and trademark infringement. If we fail to 
maintain and enhance our brands generally, or if we incur excessive expenses in these efforts, our business, financial condition 
and results of operations may be adversely affected. 

Our reputation and business could be damaged by negative publicity.

Reputational risk is inherent in our business. Negative publicity or reputational harm can result from actual or alleged 
conduct in a number of areas, including legal and regulatory compliance, lending practices, corporate governance, litigation, 
inadequate protection of customer data, illegal or unauthorized acts taken by third parties that supply products or services to us, 
the behavior of our employees, the customers with whom we have chosen to do business and negative publicity for other 
financial institutions. Damage to our reputation could adversely impact our ability to attract new, and maintain existing, loan 
and deposit customers, employees and business relationships, and, particularly with respect to our broker-dealer and registered 
investment adviser businesses, could result in the imposition of new regulatory requirements, operational restrictions, enhanced 
supervision and/or civil money penalties. Such damage could also adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital. Any 
such damage to our reputation could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Extreme weather conditions, natural disasters, rising sea levels, acts of war or terrorism, civil unrest, public health 
issues, or other adverse external events could harm our business.

The potential impacts of extreme weather conditions, natural disasters and rising sea levels, could impact our 
operations as well as those of our customers and third party vendors upon which we rely. Our Bank is based in San Diego, 
California, and approximately 41.3% of our real estate loan portfolio was secured by real estate located in California at June 30, 
2023. In addition, some of our computer systems that operate our internet websites and their back-up systems are located in San 
Diego, California. Historically, California has been vulnerable to natural disasters. Therefore, we are susceptible to the risks of 
natural disasters, such as earthquakes, wildfires, floods and mudslides, the nature and magnitude of which cannot be predicted 
and may be exacerbated by global climate change. Natural disasters could harm our operations directly through interference 
with communications, including the interruption or loss of our websites, which would prevent us from gathering deposits, 
originating loans and leases and processing and controlling our flow of business, as well as through the destruction of facilities 
and our operational, financial and management information systems. A natural disaster or recurring power outages may also 
impair the value of our largest class of assets, our loan and lease portfolio, which is comprised substantially of real estate loans. 
Losses from disasters for which borrowers are uninsured or under-insured may reduce borrowers’ ability to repay mortgage 
loans. Natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism, civil unrest, public health issues, or other adverse external events could each 
negatively impact our business operations or the stability of our deposit base, cause significant property damage, adversely 
impact the values of collateral securing our loans and/or interrupt our borrowers’ abilities to conduct their business in a manner 
to support their debt obligations, which could result in losses and increased provisions for credit losses. Although we have 
implemented several back-up systems and protections (and maintain standard business interruption insurance), these measures 
may not protect us fully from the effects of a natural disaster, acts of war or terrorism, civil unrest, public health issues, or other 
adverse external events. The occurrence of natural disasters, particularly in California, could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Increased regulation related to Environmental, Social, and Governance factors could negatively affect our operating 
results and could increase our operating expenses and those of our customers.

There is increased public awareness and concern by governmental organizations on a variety of environmental, social, 
and sustainability matters, including climate change. This increased awareness may include more prescriptive reporting of 
environmental, social, and governance metrics, and other compliance requirements. Further legislation and regulatory 
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requirements could increase the operating expenses of, or otherwise adversely impact, us and our customers. To the extent that 
we or our customers experience increases in costs, reductions in the value of assets, constraints on operations or similar 
concerns driven by changes in regulation relating to climate change, it could have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Our success depends in large part on the continuing efforts of a few individuals. If we are unable to retain these key 
personnel or attract, hire and retain others to oversee and manage our Company, our business could suffer.

Our success depends substantially on the skill and abilities of our senior management team, including our Chief 
Executive Officer and President, Gregory Garrabrants, and other employees that perform multiple functions that might 
otherwise be performed by separate individuals at larger banks. The loss of the services of any of these individuals or other key 
employees, whether through termination of employment, disability or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on our 
business. In addition, our ability to grow and manage our growth depends on our ability to continue to identify, attract, hire, 
train, retain and motivate highly skilled executive, technical, managerial, sales, marketing, customer service and professional 
personnel. The implementation of our business plan and our future success will depend on such qualified personnel. 
Competition for employees is intense in many areas of the financial services industry, and there is a risk that we will not be able 
to successfully attract, assimilate or retain sufficiently qualified personnel. If we fail to attract and retain the necessary 
personnel, or if the costs of employee compensation or benefits increase substantially, our business, prospects, financial 
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We are exposed to risk of environmental liability with respect to properties to which we take title.

In the course of our business, we may foreclose and take title to real estate, including commercial real estate, and could 
be subject to environmental liabilities with respect to those properties. We may be held liable to a governmental entity or to 
third parties for property damage, personal injury, investigation and clean-up costs incurred by these parties in connection with 
environmental contamination or may be required to investigate or clean up hazardous or toxic substances or chemical releases 
at a property. The costs associated with investigation or remediation activities could be substantial. In addition, if we are the 
owner or former owner of a contaminated site, we may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and 
costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from the property. If we become subject to significant 
environmental liabilities, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Technology Risks 

We depend on third-party service providers for our core banking and securities transactions technology, and 
interruptions in or terminations of their services could materially impair the quality of our services.

We rely substantially upon third-party service providers for our core technology and to protect us from system failures 
or disruptions. This reliance may mean that we will not be able to resolve operational problems internally or on a timely basis, 
which could lead to customer dissatisfaction or long-term disruption of our operations. Due to our interconnectivity with these 
third parties, we may be adversely affected if any of them is subject to a cyber-attack or other privacy or information security 
event, including those arising due to the use of mobile technology or a third-party cloud environment. Our operations depend 
upon our ability to replace a third-party service provider if it experiences difficulties that interrupt operations or if an essential 
third-party service terminates. If these service arrangements are terminated for any reason without an immediately available 
substitute arrangement, our operations may be severely interrupted or delayed. If such interruption or delay were to continue for 
a substantial period of time, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Privacy concerns relating to our technology could damage our reputation and deter current and potential customers 
from using our products and services.

We are subject to various privacy, information security and data protection laws and regulations, such as the GLBA, 
which among other things requires privacy disclosures and maintenance of a robust security program. These laws and 
regulations are rapidly evolving and growing in complexity, and could have a significant impact on our current and planned 
privacy, data protection and information security-related practices, our collection, use, sharing, retention and safeguarding of 
consumer and employee information, and some of our current or planned business activities. The costs of compliance with these 
laws or regulatory actions may increase our operational costs, restrict our ability to provide certain products and services, 
reduce income from certain business initiatives, or result in interruptions or delays in the availability of systems.
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Concerns about our practices with regard to the collection, use, disclosure or security of personal information of our 
customers or other privacy related matters, even if unfounded, could damage our reputation and results of operations. While we 
strive to comply with all applicable data protection laws and regulations, as well as our own posted privacy policies, any failure 
or perceived failure to comply may result in proceedings or actions against us by government entities or others, or could cause 
us to lose customers, which could potentially have an adverse effect on our business.

Misconduct by employees could also result in fraudulent, improper or unauthorized activities on behalf of clients or 
improper use of confidential personal information. The Company may not be able to prevent employee errors or misconduct, 
and the precautions the Company takes to detect this type of activity might not be effective in all cases. Employee errors or 
misconduct could subject the Company to civil claims for negligence or regulatory enforcement actions, including fines and 
restrictions on our business.

As nearly all of our products and services are smartphone and internet-based, the amount of data we store for our 
customers on our servers (including personal information) has been increasing and will continue to increase. Any systems 
failure or compromise of our security that results in the release of our customers’ data could seriously limit the adoption of our 
products and services, as well as harm our reputation and brand and, therefore, our business. We may need to expend significant 
resources to protect against security breaches. System enhancements and updates may create risks associated with 
implementing new systems and integrating them with existing ones. Due to the complexity and interconnectedness of 
information technology systems, the process of enhancing our layers of defense can create a risk of systems disruptions and 
security issues. In addition, addressing certain information security vulnerabilities, such as hardware-based vulnerabilities, may 
affect the performance of our information technology systems. The ability of our hardware and software providers to deliver 
patches and updates to mitigate vulnerabilities in a timely manner can introduce additional risks, particularly when a 
vulnerability is being actively exploited by threat actors. 

The risk that these types of events could seriously harm our business is likely to increase as we add more customers 
and expand the number of smartphone and internet-based products and services we offer.

We have risks of systems failure and disruptions to operations.

The computer systems, internet connectivity and network infrastructure utilized by us and others could be vulnerable 
to unforeseen problems. This is true of both our internally developed systems and the systems of our third-party service 
providers. Our operations are dependent upon our ability to protect computer equipment against damage from fire, power loss, 
telecommunication failure or similar catastrophic events.

Any damage or failure that causes an interruption in our operations could adversely affect our business, prospects, 
financial condition and results of operations.

If our security measures are breached, or if our services are subject to information security incidents that degrade or 
deny the ability of customers to access our products and services, our products and services may be perceived as not being 
secure, customers may curtail or stop using our products and services, and we may incur significant legal and financial 
exposure.

Our products and services involve the storage and transmission of customers’ proprietary information, and security 
breaches could expose us to a risk of loss of this information, litigation, and potential liability. We employ cybersecurity 
measures that are designed to prevent, detect, and respond to cyberattacks, including management-level engagement and 
corporate governance, formalized risk management, advanced technical controls, incident response planning, frequent 
vulnerability testing, vendor management, intrusion monitoring, security awareness program, and partnerships with the 
appropriate government and law enforcement agencies. These procedures cannot assure we will be fully protected from a 
cybersecurity incident. Our security measures may be breached due to the actions of organized crime, hackers, terrorists, nation-
states, activists and other outside parties, employee error, failure to follow security procedures, malfeasance, or otherwise. As a 
result, an unauthorized party may obtain access to our data or our customers’ data. In addition, to access our products and 
services, our customers use personal computers, smartphones, tablets, and other mobile devices that are beyond our control 
environment. Outside parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees or customers to disclose sensitive information in 
order to gain access to our data or our customers’ data. Other types of information security incidents may include computer 
viruses, malicious or destructive code, denial-of-service attacks, ransomware or ransom demands to not expose security 
vulnerabilities in the Company’s systems or the systems of third parties. Any such breach or unauthorized access could result in 
significant legal and financial exposure, damage to our reputation, and a loss of confidence in the security of our products and 
services that could potentially have an adverse effect on our business. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized 
access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a 
target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. If an actual or 
perceived breach of our security occurs, including those of our third-party vendors, such as hacking or identity theft, it could 
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cause serious negative consequences, including significant disruption of our operations, misappropriation of confidential 
information, or damage to computers or systems, and may result in violations of applicable privacy and other laws, financial 
loss and loss of confidence in our security measures. As a result, we could lose customers, suffer employee productivity losses, 
incur technology replacement and incident response costs, be subject to additional regulatory scrutiny, and be subject to civil 
litigation and possible financial liability, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

We are heavily reliant on technology, and a failure in effectively implementing technology initiatives or anticipating 
future technology needs or demands could adversely affect our business or financial results.

We depend on technology to deliver our products and services and to conduct our business and operations. To remain 
technologically competitive and operationally efficient, we invest in system upgrades, new solutions, and other technology 
initiatives. Many of these initiatives take a significant amount of time to develop and implement, are tied to critical systems, and 
require substantial financial, human, and other resources. Although we take steps to mitigate the risks and uncertainties 
associated with these initiatives, no assurance can be provided that they will be implemented on time, within budget, or without 
negative financial, operational, or customer impact or that, once implemented, they will perform as we or our customers expect. 
We may not succeed in anticipating or keeping pace with future technology needs, the technology demands of customers, or the 
competitive landscape for technology. If we are not able to anticipate and keep pace with existing and future technology needs, 
our business, financial results, or reputation could be negatively impacted.

Risks Associated with our Common Stock

The market price of our common stock may be volatile.
Stock price volatility may make it more difficult for our stockholders to resell their common stock when desired. Our 

common stock price may fluctuate significantly due to a variety of factors that include the following:

• actual or expected variations in quarterly results of operations;
• recommendations by securities analysts;
• operating and stock price performance of comparable companies, as deemed by investors;
• news reports relating to trends, concerns, and other issues in the financial services industry, including recent 

highly-publicized bank failures;
• perceptions in the marketplace about our Company or competitors;
• new technology used, or services offered, by competitors;
• significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital 

commitments by, or involving, our Company or competitors;
• failure to integrate acquisitions or realize expected benefits from acquisitions;
• changes in government regulations; and
• geopolitical conditions, such as acts or threats of terrorism or military action.

General market fluctuations; industry factors; political conditions; and general economic conditions and events, such 
as economic slowdowns, recessions, interest rate changes, or credit loss trends, could cause our common stock price to decrease 
regardless of operating results.

Provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation, By-laws and Delaware laws might discourage, delay or prevent a 
change of control of our Company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our common 
stock.

Provisions of our Certification of Incorporation, by-laws and Delaware laws may discourage, delay or prevent a 
merger, acquisition or other change in control that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which you 
might otherwise receive a premium for your shares of our common stock. These provisions may also prevent or frustrate 
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our management. These provisions include:

• supermajority voting provisions providing that certain sections of our Certificate of Incorporation and our By-
laws may not be amended or repealed by our stockholders without the affirmative vote of the holders of at 
least 75% of the voting power, and requiring the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the voting 
power to remove a director or directors and only for cause;

• our classified Board of Directors, which may tend to discourage a third-party from making a tender offer or 
otherwise attempting to obtain control of us since the classification of our Board of Directors generally 
increases the difficulty of replacing a majority of directors;
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• advance notice provisions requiring stockholders seeking to nominate candidates to be elected as directors at 
an annual meeting or to bring business before an annual meeting to comply with the written procedure 
specified in our By-laws;

• the inability of stockholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings;
• the ability of our Board of Directors to make, alter or repeal our by-laws;
• the ability of our Board of Directors to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without 

stockholder approval; 
• the additional shares of authorized common stock and preferred stock available for issuance under our 

Certificate of Incorporation, which could be issued at such times, under such circumstances and with such 
terms and conditions as to impede a change in control.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a 
Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with an interested stockholder for a 
period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless such transactions are 
approved by our Board of Directors. The existence of the foregoing provisions and anti-takeover measures could limit the price 
that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. They could also deter potential acquirers of 
our Company, thereby reducing the likelihood that you could receive a premium for your common stock in an acquisition.

General Risk Factors

Our acquisitions involve integration and other risks.

From time to time we undertake acquisitions of assets, deposits, lines of business and other companies consistent with 
our operating and growth strategies. Acquisitions generally involve a number of risks and challenges, including our ability to 
integrate the acquired operations and the associated internal controls and regulatory functions into our current operations, our 
ability to retain key personnel of the acquired operations, our ability to limit the outflow of acquired deposits and successfully 
retain and manage acquired assets, our ability to attract new customers and generate new assets in areas not previously served, 
and the possible assumption of risks and liabilities related to litigation or regulatory proceedings involving the acquired 
operations. Additionally, no assurance can be given that the operation of acquisitions would not adversely affect our existing 
profitability, that we would be able to achieve results in the future similar to those achieved by the acquired operations, that we 
would be able to compete effectively in the markets served by the acquired operations, or that we would be able to manage any 
growth resulting from the transaction effectively. We also face the risk that the anticipated benefits of any acquisition may not 
be realized fully or at all, or within the time period expected.

As a public company, we face the risk of stockholder lawsuits and other related or unrelated litigation, particularly if 
we experience declines in the price of our common stock. 

We are subject to a variety of litigation pertaining to fiduciary and other claims and legal proceedings. Currently, there 
are certain legal proceedings pending against us in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of any legal proceeding 
is inherently uncertain, we believe any liabilities arising from pending legal matters have been adequately accrued for based on 
the probability of a charge. However, if actual results differ from our expectations, it could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company's financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. For a detailed discussion on current legal proceedings, see 
Item 3 - “Legal Proceedings.”

Our controls and procedures may fail or be circumvented.

We regularly review and update our internal controls, disclosure controls and procedures, compliance monitoring 
activities and corporate governance policies and procedures. Any system of controls, however well-designed and operated, is 
based in part on certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurances that the objectives of the system 
are met. Any failure or circumvention of our controls and procedures or failure to comply with regulations related to controls 
and procedures could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, reputation and financial condition. In 
addition, if we identify material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting or are 
required to restate our financial statements, we could be required to implement expensive and time-consuming remedial 
measures. We could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and potentially subject 
us to litigation. Any material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting or 
restatement of our financial statements could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, reputation, 
and financial condition.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal offices are located at 9205 West Russell Road, Suite 400, Las Vegas, NV 89148. Our Banking and 
Securities segments conduct business at this location and our telephone number is (858) 649-2218. We have additional office 
space located at 4350 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 140, San Diego, California 92122. Our offices in Las Vegas consist of a 
total of approximately 30,000 square feet under leases that expire August 31, 2027 and our San Diego facilities consist of a total 
of approximately 186,000 square feet under leases that expire June 30, 2030.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We may from time to time become a party to other claims or litigation that arise in the ordinary course of business, 

such as claims to enforce liens, claims involving the origination and servicing of loans, and other issues related to the 
Company’s operations. None of such matters are expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial 
condition, results of operations or business. For additional information on legal proceedings, refer to Note 18 - “Commitments, 
Contingencies, and Off-Balance-Sheet Activities.”

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II
     ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AX”. There were 59,984,909 shares 
of common stock outstanding as of August 25, 2023 held by approximately 43,000 holders of record. A substantially larger 
number of holders of our common stock are beneficial holders, whose shares are held of record by brokers and other financial 
institutions. The transfer agent and registrar of our common stock is Computershare. 

DIVIDENDS

As discussed below, on October 30, 2020, we redeemed all 515 outstanding shares of Series A-6% Cumulative 
Nonparticipating Perpetual Preferred Stock. As such, no holders of record of any class of stock are entitled to receive dividends 
currently. We currently intend to retain any earnings to finance the growth and development of our business and common stock 
repurchases. Our Board of Directors has never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and does not expect to 
do so in the foreseeable future. Our ability to pay dividends, should our Board of Directors elect to do so, depends largely upon 
the ability of our subsidiaries to declare and pay dividends to us. Future dividends will depend primarily upon our earnings, 
financial condition and need for funds, as well as government policies and regulations applicable to us and our bank that limit 
the amount that may be paid as dividends without prior approval.

Preferred Stock. The Company redeemed for cash all 515 outstanding shares of Series A-6% Cumulative 
Nonparticipating Perpetual Preferred Stock on October 30, 2020, at the face value $10,000 liquidation price per share plus 
accrued dividends.

There were no dividends declared for the year ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 as the Series A preferred stock 
was redeemed during fiscal year 2021. The Company declared dividends to holders of its Series A preferred stock totaling $0.1 
million for the year ended June 30, 2021. 

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock Repurchases. On August 6, 2019 the Company announced a program to repurchase up to $100 
million of its common stock, and on April 27, 2023, the Company announced a program to repurchase an additional $100 
million of its common stock. The Company may repurchase shares on the open market or through privately negotiated 
transactions at times and prices considered appropriate, at the discretion of the Company, and subject to its assessment of 
alternative uses of capital, stock trading price, general market conditions and regulatory factors. The repurchase program does 
not obligate the Company to acquire any specific number of shares. The share repurchase program will continue in effect until 
terminated by the Board of Directors of the Company. Shares of common stock repurchased under this plan will be held as 
treasury shares. Under the 2019 authorization, the Company has repurchased a total of $96.3 million or 3,721,014 common 
shares at an average price of $25.89 per share and there remains $3.7 million of availability under the plan. There have been no 
purchases under the 2023 authorization. The Company accounts for treasury stock using the cost method as a reduction of 
stockholders’ equity in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Net Settlement of Restricted Stock Unit Awards. In October 2021, the stockholders of the Company approved the 
amended and restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan, which, among other changes, permitted net settlement of stock issuances 
related to equity awards for purposes of payment of a grantee’s minimum income tax obligation. During the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023, there were 214,807 restricted stock unit award shares which were retained by the Company and converted to 
cash at the average rate of $40.24 per share to fund the grantee’s income tax obligations.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that are based upon current expectations. 
Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of events could differ materially 
from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements due to various important factors, including those set forth 
under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A. and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion and analysis 
should be read together with the Consolidated Financial Statements, including the related notes included elsewhere in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

OVERVIEW

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Axos Financial, Inc. (“Axos”) and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Axos Bank (the “Bank”) and Axos Nevada Holding, LLC (“Axos Nevada Holding”), collectively, the “Company.” 
Axos, the Bank and Axos Nevada Holding comprise substantially all of the Company’s assets and liabilities and revenues and 
expenses. Axos Nevada Holding owns the companies constituting the Securities Business segment, including; Axos Securities, 
LLC, Axos Clearing LLC (“Axos Clearing”), a clearing broker-dealer, Axos Invest, Inc., a registered investment advisor, and 
Axos Invest LLC, an introducing broker-dealer. With approximately $20.3 billion in assets, Axos Bank provides consumer and 
business banking products through its low-cost distribution channels and affinity partners. Axos Clearing and Axos Invest LLC, 
provide comprehensive securities clearing services to introducing broker-dealers and registered investment advisor 
correspondents and digital investment advisory services to retail investors, respectively. Axos Financial, Inc.’s common stock is 
listed on the NYSE under the symbol “AX” and is a component of the Russell 2000® Index and the S&P SmallCap 600® Index. 
For more information on Axos Bank, please visit axosbank.com.

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

From time to time we undertake acquisitions or similar transactions consistent with our operating and growth 
strategies.

E*TRADE Advisor Services acquisition. On August 2, 2021, Axos Clearing, LLC, acquired certain assets and 
liabilities of E*TRADE Advisor Services (“EAS”), the registered investment advisor custody business of Morgan Stanley. This 
business was rebranded as Axos Advisors Services (“AAS”). AAS adds incremental fee income, a turnkey technology platform 
used by independent registered investment advisors for trading and custody services, and low-cost deposits that can be used to 
generate fee income from other bank partners or to fund loan growth at Axos Bank. The purchase price of $54.8 million 
consisted entirely of cash consideration paid upon acquisition and working capital adjustments.

This acquisition was accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting. 
Accordingly, tangible and intangible assets acquired (and liabilities assumed) are recorded at their estimated fair values as of 
the date of acquisition. 

There were no other significant acquisitions undertaken during fiscal years 2023, 2022 or 2021.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our 
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to 
make a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions based upon historical experience and various 
factors and circumstances. We believe that our estimates and assumptions are reasonable under the circumstances. However, 
actual results may differ significantly from these estimates and assumptions that could have a material effect on the carrying 
value of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet dates and our results of operations for the reporting periods.

Critical accounting estimates are those that we consider most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and 
results of operations because they require our most difficult judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates that are 
inherently uncertain. We have identified critical accounting policies and estimates below. In addition, these critical accounting 
estimates are discussed further in Note 1 - “Organizations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Securities. The Company’s securities held as trading and held as available for sale are carried at fair value. Estimating 
fair value for these securities requires judgment, the degree of which is largely dependent on the amount of observable market 
data available to the Company. For securities valued using techniques that use significant unobservable inputs and are therefore 
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classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the Company incorporates significantly more judgment to estimate the 
security’s fair value, as Level 3 valuation inputs inherently have increased uncertainty compared to inputs used when estimating 
the fair value of securities classified as Level 2.

The Company’s estimate of fair value for non-agency securities classified as Level 3 is highly subjective and is based 
on estimates of voluntary prepayments, default rates, severities and discount margins, which are forecasted for each month over 
the remaining life of each security. Changes in one or more of these inputs can cause a significant change in the estimated fair 
value. 

For further information on Securities, refer to Note 1 - “Organizations and Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies,” Note 3 - “Fair Value” and Note 4 - “Securities.”

Allowance for Credit Losses. The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses for its held-for-investment loan 
and net investment in leases portfolio, excluding loans measured at fair value in accordance with applicable accounting 
standards, which represents management’s estimate of the expected lifetime credit losses on the loans and net investment in 
leases. The estimate of the allowance for credit losses includes both a quantitative and qualitative assessment, both of which 
include variables that are subject to uncertainty.

The quantitative assessment reflects modeled outputs utilizing economic scenarios and forecasts, which are subject to 
uncertainty, and is also based on the Company’s current and expected future economic outlook. Key economic variables 
considered in the quantitative assessment include factors such as the U.S. unemployment rate and interest rates, both of which 
impact the default rate of the loan pools. Additionally, the results of the quantitative assessment are impacted by the third-party 
macroeconomic forecasts across various economic scenarios. The Company periodically reviews and adjusts the weighting of 
scenarios based on Management’s ACL framework. Adjustment of scenario weighting away from the baseline scenario to the 
adverse scenario should increase the allowance for credit losses on the Company’s held-for-investment loan and net investment 
in leases portfolio, all else remaining equal. Economic forecasts that impacted management’s assessment of scenario weightings 
included interest rates, inflation, supply chain constraints and geopolitical unrest. Changes in one or more of these variables can 
cause a significant change in the estimate of the allowance for credit losses.

Additionally, management performs a qualitative assessment to address inherent limitations in the model and data. 
Qualitative criteria used in the assessment, as outlined in Note 1 – “Organizations and Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies”, can require significant judgment and is subject to uncertainty.

For further information on the allowance for credit losses, refer to Note 1 - “Organizations and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies” and Note 5 – “Loans & Allowance for Credit Losses-Loans.”

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Evaluating goodwill for impairment requires significant judgment and requires 
the use of certain unobservable inputs that are subject to uncertainty. To test for impairment, the Company first performs a 
qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its 
carrying amount. If, after completing the qualitative assessment, the Company determines it is more likely than not that the fair 
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, it performs a quantitative goodwill impairment test. The qualitative 
assessment requires management judgment in assessing factors including, but not limited to, the macroeconomic and industry 
environment as well as Company-specific factors. If the Company performs a quantitative test, management applies significant 
judgment in deriving valuation inputs, evaluating current operating results, estimating future cash flows, assessing market 
conditions and considering other factors. Factors used to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit are subject to uncertainty 
and can change from year to year based on availability and observability.

Additionally, evaluating other intangible assets for impairment requires management to use significant judgment. The 
valuation of other intangible assets is primarily determined using discounted cash flows, market comparisons and recent 
transactions, the inputs for which may be unobservable and are subject to uncertainty. 

For further information on Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, refer to Note 1 - “Organizations and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies” and Note 9 – “Goodwill and Intangible Assets.” 
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Axos Bank can borrow up to 40% of its total assets from the FHLB. Borrowings are collateralized by pledging certain 
mortgage loans and investment securities to the FHLB. Based on loans and securities pledged at June 30, 2023, we had a total 
borrowing availability of an additional $3.1 billion available immediately and an additional $4.5 billion available with 
additional collateral, for advances from the FHLB for terms of up to ten years. As of June 30, 2023, the Company pledged 
$5,128.4 million of loans and $0.2 million of securities to the FHLB to secure its borrowings. At June 30, 2023, we had $225.0 
million in unsecured federal funds lines of credit with four major banks under which there were no borrowings outstanding.

The Bank can borrow from the discount window at the FRBSF. FRBSF borrowings are collateralized by commercial 
loans, consumer loans and mortgage-backed securities pledged to the FRBSF. Based on loans and securities pledged at June 30, 
2023, the Bank had a total borrowing capacity of approximately $2.7 billion, all of which was available for use. At June 30, 
2023 we had $3.7 billion of loans pledged to the FRBSF.

Our future borrowings will depend on the growth of our lending operations and our exposure to interest rate risk. We 
expect to continue to use deposits and advances from the FHLB as the primary sources of funding our future asset growth.

Axos Clearing has $150.0 million of secured lines of credit available for borrowing. As of June 30, 2023, there was 
$11.5 million outstanding. These credit facilities bear interest at rates based on the Federal Funds rate and borrowings are due 
upon demand. The weighted-average interest rate on the borrowings at June 30, 2023 was 7.0%.

Axos Clearing has a $190.0 million unsecured line of credit available for limited purpose borrowing, which includes 
$100.0 million from Axos Financial, Inc. As of June 30, 2023, there was $15.7 million outstanding after elimination of 
intercompany balances. This credit facility bears interest at rates based on the Federal Funds rate and borrowings are due upon 
demand. The unsecured line of credit requires Axos Clearing to operate in accordance with specific covenants with respect to 
capital and debt ratios. Axos Clearing was in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2023.

In December 2004, we completed a transaction that resulted in the issuance of $5.2 million of junior subordinated 
debentures for our company with a stated maturity date of February 23, 2035. We have the right to redeem the debentures in 
whole (but not in part) on or after specific dates, at a redemption price specified in the indenture plus any accrued but unpaid 
interest through the redemption date. Prior to June 30, 2023, interest accrued at the rate of three-month LIBOR plus 2.4%, for a 
rate of 7.79% as of June 30, 2023, with interest paid quarterly. Following June 30, 2023, interest accrues at three-month term 
SOFR plus of 0.26161%.

In March 2016, Axos completed the sale of $51.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 6.25% Subordinated 
Notes due February 28, 2026 (the “2026 Notes”). On March 31, 2021, the Company completed the redemption of $51.0 million 
aggregate principal amount. The 2026 Notes were redeemed for cash by the Company at 100% of their principal amount, plus 
accrued and unpaid interest, in accordance with the terms of the indenture governing the 2026 Notes. On March 31, 2021, the 
Company completed the redemption of $51.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 2026 Notes. The 2026 Notes were 
redeemed for cash by the Company at 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, in accordance with the 
terms of the indenture governing the 2026 Notes. Remaining unamortized deferred financing costs associated with such notes 
were expensed and included under “Interest Expense - Other Borrowings in the Consolidated Statements of Income.”

In January 2019, we issued subordinated notes totaling $7.5 million to the principal stockholders of Cor Securities 
Holdings, Inc. (“COR Securities”) in an equal principal amount, with a maturity of 15 months, to serve as the source of 
payment of indemnification obligations of the principal stakeholders of COR Securities under the Merger Agreement. Interest 
accrues at a rate of 6.25% per annum. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, $0.1 million of subordinated loans were 
repaid. The Company has made an indemnification claim against the $7.4 million remaining amount.

In September 2020, the Company completed the sale of $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.875% 
Fixed-to-Floating Rate Subordinated Notes due October 1, 2030 (the “2030 Notes”). The 2030 Notes mature on October 1, 
2030 and accrue interest at a fixed rate per annum equal to 4.875%, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 
of each year, commencing on April 1, 2021. From and including October 1, 2025, to, but excluding October 1, 2030 or the date 
of early redemption, the 2030 Notes will bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to the three-month term SOFR plus a 
spread of 476 basis points, payable quarterly in arrears on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing 
on January 2026. The 2030 Notes may be redeemed on or after October 1, 2025, which date may be extended at the Company’s 
discretion, at a redemption price equal to principal plus accrued and unpaid interest, subject to certain conditions.

In March 2021, we filed a new shelf registration with the SEC which allows us to issue up to $400.0 million through 
the sale of debt securities, common stock, preferred stock and warrants. 

In February 2022, the Company completed the sale of $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.00% Fixed-
to-Floating Rate Subordinated Notes (the “2032 Notes”). The 2032 Notes are obligations only of Axos Financial, Inc. The 2032 
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Notes mature on March 1, 2032 and accrue interest at a fixed rate per annum equal to 4.00%, payable semi-annually in arrears 
on March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing on September 1, 2022. From and including March 1, 2027, to, but 
excluding March 1, 2032 or the date of early redemption, the 2032 Notes will bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to 
three-month term SOFR plus a spread of 227 basis points, payable quarterly in arrears on March 1, June 1, September 1 and 
December 1 of each year, commencing on June 1, 2027. The 2032 Notes may be redeemed on or after March 1, 2027, which 
date may be extended at the Company’s discretion, at a redemption price equal to principal plus accrued and unpaid interest, 
subject to certain conditions. Fees and costs incurred in connection with the debt offering amortize to interest expense over the 
term of the 2032 Notes.

We view our liquidity sources to be stable and adequate for our anticipated needs and contingencies for both the short 
and long-term. Due to the diversified sources of our deposits, while maintaining approximately 90% of our total Bank deposits 
in insured or collateralized accounts as of June 30, 2023, we believe we have the ability to increase our level of deposits, and 
have available other potential sources of funding, to address our liquidity needs for the foreseeable future.

For additional information on certain contractual and other obligations, see Note 10 - “Leases,” Note 11 - “Deposits,” 
Note 12 - “Advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank” and Note 13 - “Borrowings, Subordinated Debt and Debentures.”

Off-Balance Sheet Commitments. At June 30, 2023, we had unfunded commitments to originate loans with an 
aggregate outstanding principal balance of $2,917.6 million, commitments to sell loans with an aggregate outstanding principal 
balance at the time of sale of $24.9 millions, and no commitments to purchase loans, investment securities or any other unused 
lines of credit. See Item 3. Legal Proceedings for further information on pending litigation.

Consolidated and Bank Capital Requirements. Our Company and Bank are subject to regulatory capital adequacy 
requirements promulgated by federal bank regulatory agencies. Failure by our Company or Bank to meet minimum capital 
requirements could result in certain mandatory and discretionary actions by regulators that could have a material adverse effect 
on our consolidated financial statements. The Federal Reserve establishes capital requirements for our Company and the OCC 
has similar requirements for our Bank. The following tables present regulatory capital information for our Company and Bank. 
Information presented for June 30, 2023, reflects the Basel III capital requirements for both our Company and Bank. Under 
these capital requirements and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, our Company and Bank must meet 
specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of our Company and Bank’s assets, liabilities and certain off-
balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Our Company’s and Bank’s capital amounts and 
classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation require our Company and Bank to maintain certain minimum capital 
amounts and ratios. Federal bank regulators require our Company and Bank maintain minimum ratios of core capital to adjusted 
average assets of 4.0%, common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 4.5%, tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 
6.0% and total risk-based capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.0%. To be “well capitalized,” our Company and Bank must 
maintain minimum leverage, common equity tier 1 risk-based, tier 1 risk-based and total risk-based capital ratios of at least 
5.0%, 6.5%, 8.0% and 10.0%, respectively. At June 30, 2023, our Company and Bank met all the capital adequacy 
requirements to which they were subject to and were “well capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective 
action. Management believes that no conditions or events have occurred since June 30, 2023 that would materially adversely 
change the Company’s and Bank’s capital classifications. From time to time, we may need to raise additional capital to support 
our Company’s and Bank’s further growth and to maintain their “well capitalized” status.

The Company and Bank both elected the five-year CECL transition guidance for calculating regulatory capital and 
ratios. The amounts in the following table reflect this election. This guidance allowed an entity to add back to regulatory capital 
100% of the impact of the day one CECL transition adjustment and 25% of the subsequent increases to the allowance for credit 
losses through June 30, 2022. Beginning with fiscal year 2023, this cumulative amount is phased out of regulatory capital at 
25% per year until it is 100% phased out of regulatory capital beginning in fiscal year 2026.
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We are exposed to different types of interest rate risk. These risks include lag, repricing, basis, prepayment and 
lifetime cap risk, each of which is described in further detail below:

Lag/Repricing Risk. Lag risk results from the inherent timing difference between the repricing of our adjustable rate 
assets and our liabilities. Repricing risk is caused by the mismatch of repricing methods between interest-earning assets and 
interest-bearing liabilities. Lag/repricing risk can produce short-term volatility in our net interest income during periods of 
interest rate movements even though the effect of this lag generally balances out over time. One example of lag risk is the 
repricing of assets indexed to the monthly treasury average (“MTA”). The MTA index is based on a moving average of rates 
outstanding during the previous 12 months. A sharp movement in interest rates in a month will not be fully reflected in the 
index for 12 months resulting in a lag in the repricing of our loans and securities based on this index. We expect more of our 
interest-earning assets will mature or reprice within one year than will our interest-bearing liabilities, resulting in a one year 
positive interest rate sensitivity gap (the difference between our interest rate sensitive assets maturing or repricing within one 
year and our interest rate sensitive liabilities maturing or repricing within one year, expressed as a percentage of total interest-
earning assets). In a rising interest rate environment, an institution with a positive gap would generally be expected, absent the 
effects of other factors, to experience a greater increase in its yield on assets relative to its cost on liabilities, and thus an 
increase in its net interest income. If our interest-bearing liabilities lag in repricing is shorter, or reprices faster, than our 
interest-earning assets lag, then it would result in a reduction to our net interest income.

Basis Risk. Basis risk occurs when assets and liabilities have similar repricing timing but repricing is based on 
different market interest rate indices. Our earning assets that reprice are directly tied to various indices, such as: U.S. Treasury, 
SOFR, Ameribor, BSBY, Eleventh District Cost of Funds, Federal Funds (“Fed Funds”), Interest Rate on Excess Reserves 
(“IOER”), Prime and, until June 30, 2023, LIBOR. Generally, our deposit rates are not directly tied to these same indices. A 
portion of the Bank’s deposits are based on administrative rates controlled by management and the remaining portion are 
directly tied to Fed Funds. Certain debt is linked to Fed Funds and, until June 30, 2023, LIBOR. Therefore, if liability-linked 
indices rise faster than asset-linked indices and there are no other changes in our asset/liability mix, our net interest income will 
likely decline due to basis risk.

Prepayment Risk. Prepayment risk results from the right of customers to pay their loans prior to maturity. Generally, 
loan prepayments increase in falling interest rate environments and decrease in rising interest rate environments. In addition, 
prepayment risk results from the right of customers to withdraw their time deposits before maturity. Generally, early 
withdrawals of time deposits increase during rising interest rate environments and decrease in falling interest rate environments. 
When estimating the future performance of our assets and liabilities, we make assumptions as to when and how much of our 
loans and deposits will be prepaid. If the assumptions prove to be incorrect, the asset or liability may perform differently than 
expected. In 2022 and 2021, the Bank experienced high rates of loan prepayments due to historically low interest rates; 
however, as interest rates increased throughout 2023 loan prepayments have slowed considerably.

Lifetime Cap Risk. Our adjustable rate loans have lifetime interest rate caps. In periods of rising interest rates, it is 
possible for the fully indexed interest rate (index rate plus the margin) to exceed the lifetime interest rate cap. This feature 
prevents the loan from repricing to a level that exceeds the cap’s specified interest rate, thus adversely affecting net interest 
income in periods of relatively high interest rates. On a weighted-average basis, our adjustable rate loans at June 30, 2023 had 
lifetime rate caps that were 601 basis points greater than their current stated note rates. If market rates rise by more than the 
interest rate cap, we will not be able to increase these loan rates above the interest rate cap.

The principal objective of our asset/liability management is to manage the sensitivity of market value of equity 
(“MVE”) to changing interest rates. Asset/liability management is governed by policies reviewed and approved annually by our 
Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors has delegated the responsibility to oversee the administration of these policies to the 
Bank’s asset/liability committee (“ALCO”). The interest rate risk strategy currently deployed by ALCO is to primarily use 
“natural” balance sheet hedging. ALCO makes adjustments to the overall MVE sensitivity by recommending investment and 
borrowing strategies. The management team then executes the recommended strategy by increasing or decreasing the duration 
of the investments and borrowings, resulting in the appropriate level of market risk the Board of Directors wants to maintain. 
Other examples of ALCO policies designed to reduce our interest rate risk include limiting the premiums paid to purchase 
mortgage loans or mortgage-backed securities. This policy addresses mortgage prepayment risk by capping the yield loss from 
an unexpected high level of mortgage loan prepayments. At least once a quarter, ALCO members report to our Board of 
Directors the status of our interest rate risk profile.

We measure interest rate sensitivity as the difference between amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities that mature within a given period of time. The difference, or the interest rate sensitivity gap, provides an indication of 
the extent to which an institution’s interest rate spread will be affected by changes in interest rates. A gap is considered positive 
when the amount of interest rate sensitive assets exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities and negative when the 
amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive assets. In a rising interest rate 
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monitoring position limits for each counterparty, conducting periodic credit reviews of counterparties, reviewing concentrations 
of securities and conducting business through central clearing organizations.

Collateral underlying margin loans to customers and correspondents and underlying securities lending activities is 
marked to market daily and additional collateral is obtained or refunded, as necessary.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

Refer to the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” for an index of the financial statements filed as a part of this 
report beginning on page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our management, under supervision and with the participation of 
the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures, as defined under Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). Based upon this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer concluded that, as of June 30, 2023, the disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed in the Company’s Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified in the Securities Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Management is responsible for establishing 
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 
13a-15(1) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of; our 
principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures 
that:

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions of our 
assets;

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition 
of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2023. In making 
this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013 version). Based on this assessment, management has 
determined that our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2023 was effective.

BDO USA, P.A. has audited the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 
2023, as stated in their report dated August 29, 2023.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2023 (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors
Axos Financial, Inc.
Las Vegas, Nevada

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Axos Financial, Inc.’s (the “Company’s”) internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2023, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2023, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(“PCAOB”), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements 
of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 
2023, and the related notes and our report dated August 29, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Item 9A, 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control 
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures 
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 /s/ BDO USA, P.A.
San Diego, California

August 29, 2023
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 
10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation 
S-K.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information called for by this item with respect to directors and executive officers is incorporated herein by 
reference to the information contained in the sections captioned “Election of Directors” and “Executive Compensation” in our 
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission within 120 days after June 30, 2023 (the “Proxy Statement”).

The information with respect to our audit committee and our audit committee financial expert is incorporated herein by 
reference to the information contained in the section captioned “Committees of the Board of Directors” in the Proxy Statement. 
The information with respect to our Code of Ethics is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the 
section captioned “Corporate Governance—Code of Business Conduct” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the section 
captioned “Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the sections 
captioned “Principal Holders of Common Stock” and “Security Ownership of Directors and Named Executive Officers” in the 
Proxy Statement.

Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is disclosed above in Item 5, 
which information is incorporated herein by this reference. 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the sections 
captioned “Related Transactions And Other Matters” and “Corporate Governance—Board of Directors Composition and 
Independence” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained in the section 
captioned “Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors
Axos Financial, Inc.
Las Vegas, Nevada

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Axos Financial, Inc. (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2023 
and 2022, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial 
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company at June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended June 30, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(“PCAOB”), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2023, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO”) and our report dated August 29, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered 
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities 
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial 
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 
complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate 
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Allowance for credit losses

As discussed in Notes 1 and 5 to the consolidated financial statement, the Company records their allowance for credit losses 
(“ACL”) under Accounting Standards Codification Topic 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (“ASC 326”). The 
Company’s ACL methodology considers many factors including, but not limited to, historical loss experience, where available, 
estimated defaults based on portfolio trends, changes in collateral values, portfolio composition and loan concentration, current 
lending policies and the effects of any new policies. Management’s expectation of future economic conditions is reflected in 
management’s selection and weighting of economic forecast scenarios.

We identified a critical audit matter related to the weighting of economic forecast scenarios within the Commercial Real Estate 
(including Construction) and Commercial & Industrial loan portfolio segments as a result of the judgmental and subjective 
nature of the determination. Given the significance of the ACL, the sensitivity to the change of the weightings, and the 
management judgment required, performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of the ACL required a high degree 
of auditor judgment due to the nature and extent of audit evidence required to address these matters, including the extend of 
specialized skill and knowledge needed.
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The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

• Testing the design and operating effectiveness of controls over the ACL, including management’s controls over the 
determination of the appropriate selection of the weighting of economic forecast scenarios;

• Evaluating the reasonableness and conceptual soundness of the ACL modeling framework, including the weighting of 
economic forecast scenarios by assessing the magnitude and directional consistency of changes, or lack thereof, in the 
level of adjustments as compared to underlying internal and external information sources;

• Assessing the appropriateness of the economic forecasts selected by management for use in the determination of the 
ACL; and

• Utilizing professionals with specialized skill and knowledge in valuation and business analytics to assist in evaluating 
the reasonableness and conceptual soundness of the ACL modeling framework applied in the ACL models.

/s/ BDO USA, P.A.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

San Diego, California

August 29, 2023
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AXOS FINANCIAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

1. ORGANIZATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation. The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Axos 
Financial, Inc. (“Axos”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Axos Bank (the “Bank”) and Axos Nevada Holding, LLC (“Axos 
Nevada Holding,” collectively, the “Company”). Axos, the Bank and Axos Nevada Holding comprise substantially all of the 
Company’s assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses. Axos Bank and its wholly owned subsidiaries constitute the Banking 
Business segment and Axos Nevada Holding and its wholly owned subsidiaries constitute the Securities Business segment. All 
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements are an integral part of the Company’s financial statements. Certain reclassifications have been made to the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows to conform to the 
current period presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or 
net cash flows from/used in operating activities, investing activities or financing activities.

Axos Financial, Inc. was incorporated in the State of Delaware on July 6, 1999 for the purpose of organizing and 
launching an internet-based savings bank. The Bank, which opened for business over the internet on July 4, 2000, is subject to 
regulation and examination by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”), its primary regulator. The Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insures the Bank’s deposit accounts up to the maximum allowable amount. Axos 
Clearing LLC, a clearing broker dealer, is regulated by the SEC and FINRA. Axos Invest, a platform through which digital 
investment advisory services are offered to retail investors, is regulated by the SEC and FINRA. 

Business. The Company provides banking and securities products and services to its customers through its online and 
low-cost distribution channels and affinity partners. The Bank’s deposit products are demand accounts, savings and money 
market accounts, and time deposits marketed to consumers and businesses located in all fifty states. The Bank’s lending 
products include residential single family mortgage, multifamily mortgage, commercial mortgage loans, loans secured by 
commercial real estate properties (“CRE”), loans secured by commercial assets and non-bank lenders (Commercial & Industrial 
- Non-Real Estate), auto and unsecured loans and other loans. The Bank’s lending business is primarily concentrated in 
California and New York and is subject to the general economic conditions of those states. Securities products and services 
generate interest and fee income by providing comprehensive securities clearing and custody services to introducing broker-
dealers and registered investment advisor correspondents and digital investment advisory services to retail investors, 
respectively. 

Use of Estimates. In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to 
significant change in the near term relate to the determination of the allowance for credit losses, fair value of trading and 
available-for-sale debt securities and the valuation of goodwill and intangibles.

Revenue Recognition. The Company accounts for certain revenue streams under Accounting Standards Codification 
(“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), which provides that an entity shall recognize 
revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. Certain non-interest income, such as deposit service fees, 
advisory fee income and broker-dealer clearing fees, are within the scope of ASC 606. 

Advisory Fee Income—Asset-Based Custody Fees and Asset-Based Fund Fees. Asset-based custody fees consist of 
custody fees, and other ancillary fees. Custody fees vary based on a percentage of average customer assets under custody. Other 
ancillary fees may be charged based on average customer assets or based on specific activity. Revenue is recognized over the 
period where assets are held as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits. Asset-based fund fees consist 
of 12b-1 and mutual fund stockholder services fees and are paid by mutual fund companies periodically based on the underlying 
agreements. Asset-based fund fees are charged based on a percentage of client assets invested in certain funds. Revenue is 
calculated each month based on the average daily assets invested in particular funds. Revenue is recognized over the period 
where assets are invested in certain funds. The performance obligations relate to providing recordkeeping, stockholder and 
administration services to mutual fund companies and revenue recognition is constrained until the amount of average assets 
invested in each fund is known.
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Single Family - Mortgage & Warehouse. The Single Family - Mortgage & Warehouse portfolio segment primarily 
consists of two loan types: single family mortgage loans and single family warehouse lines of credit. The single family mortgage 
loans consist of fixed-rate and adjustable-rate loans secured by one-to-four family residences located in the U.S. Terms typically 
range from 15 to 30 years. The single family warehouse lines of credit enable the mortgage originators to close loans in their 
own names and temporarily finance inventories of closed mortgage loans until they can be sold to an approved investor. The 
Company also originates home equity lines of credit and second mortgage loans.

Multifamily and Commercial Mortgage. The Multifamily and Commercial Mortgage portfolio segment consists of 
loans secured by multifamily real estate (more than four units) and commercial real estate (typically from $0.5 million to 
$50 million). These loans are dependent on the cash flow capacity of the project and repayment of loans secured by properties 
frequently depends on their successful operation and management.

Commercial Real Estate. The Commercial Real Estate portfolio segment consists of loans across the U.S. secured by 
commercial real estate properties (“CRE”) under a variety of structures that it classifies as commercial real estate. A few 
examples are as follows: Commercial Bridge to Sale, Commercial Bridge to Construction, Commercial Bridge to Refinance and 
Acquisition, Development, Construction and Lender Finance. CRE Loans are originated to businesses secured by first liens on 
single family, multifamily, condominium, office, retail, mixed-use, hospitality, undeveloped or to-be-redeveloped land. 
Repayment of CRE loans depends on the successful completion of the real estate transition project and permanent take-out.

Commercial & Industrial - Non-Real Estate (Non-RE). The Commercial & Industrial - Non-Real Estate portfolio 
segment consists of commercial and industrial non-real estate, asset-backed loans, lines of credit, term loans, leveraged cash 
flow loans and equipment financing leases. These receivables are generally secured by commercial assets, including, but not 
limited to, receivables, inventory and equipment.

For commercial and industrial non-real estate, asset backed loans and line of credit term loans, the Company typically 
enters into a structured facility, under which it takes a senior lien position collateralized by the underlying assets at advance rates 
well below the collateral value. Leveraged cash flow loans provide financial sponsors the ability to finance acquisitions, 
management buy-outs, recapitalizations, debt refinancing and dividends/distributions. Such lending relies on free cash flow as 
the primary repayment source, and enterprise value as the secondary repayment source. 

The Company’s equipment financing lease arrangements do not qualify as a sale as the Company does not obtain 
control of the assets in the ongoing sale leaseback arrangements. Therefore, the leased equipment is not capitalized on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Direct financing leases and sales-type leases are carried at the aggregate of lease payments 
receivable plus the estimated residual value of the leased property less unearned income, which is accreted to interest income 
over the lease terms using methods that approximate the interest method. Operating lease income is recognized on a straight-line 
basis and is included within the Loans, including fees, line item in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Leases generally do 
not contain non-lease components. Commercial and industrial leases are primarily made based on the operating cash flows of 
the borrower or conversion of working capital assets to cash and secondarily on the underlying collateral provided by the 
borrower. 

Auto and Consumer. The Auto and Consumer portfolio segment consists of the following distinct classes: 
Auto. The Auto class consists of prime loans to customers secured by new and used vehicles. The Company holds 

all of the auto loans originated and performs loan servicing functions for these loans. Auto loans carry a fixed interest rate and 
have terms that range from two to eight years. Certain auto loans are insured for credit losses through which the Company 
recognizes fee income in “Banking and service fees” in the Consolidated Statements of Income upon the receipt of insurance 
proceeds following the charge off of the loans. Any receivables related to these policies are included in “Other assets” on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Consumer Unsecured Lending. The Consumer Unsecured Lending class consists of fixed rate unsecured loans to 
well-qualified, individual borrowers in all fifty states. Loans are normally in the range between $7,000 and $50,000 with terms 
that range between 36 months and 72 months. 

Other. Other loans include structured settlements, SBA loans issued pursuant to the Federal Paycheck Protection 
Program (“PPP”) under the Federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES”) Act and account overdraft 
loans.

Recognition of interest income on all portfolio segments is generally discontinued at the time the loan is 90 days 
delinquent unless the loan is well secured and in process of collection. Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the 
loan. In all cases, loans are placed on nonaccrual or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is 
considered doubtful. All interest accrued but not received for loans placed on nonaccrual, is reversed against interest income. 
Interest received on such loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual 
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status. Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and 
future payments are reasonably assured.

Loans Held for Sale. Loans held for sale includes agency loans and non-agency loans held for sale. Agency loans 
originated and intended for sale in the secondary market are carried at fair value. Net unrealized gains and losses are recognized 
through mortgage banking income in the income statement. The Bank sells its mortgage loans with either servicing released or 
servicing retained depending upon market pricing. Gains and losses on loan sales are recorded as mortgage banking income, 
based on the difference between sales proceeds and carrying value. Non-agency loans held for sale are carried at the lower of 
cost or fair value. The Company has elected the fair value option for Agency loans held for sale. These loans are intended for 
sale and the Company believes that the fair value is the best indicator of the resolution of these loans. Interest income is 
recorded based on the contractual terms of the loan and in accordance with the Company’s policy on loans held for investment.

Loans that were originated with the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future (loans held for investment), but 
which have been subsequently designated as being held for sale for risk management or liquidity needs are carried at the lower 
of cost or fair value calculated using pools of loans with similar characteristics. Upon transfer, the Company assesses the 
collectability of the outstanding principal balance and may charge-off a portion of the loan as discussed further below in 
“Allowance for Credit Losses.” Following this assessment, any previously established ACL on the held for investment loan is 
reversed and the loan is transferred at amortized cost. If, following transfer to held for sale, the fair value of the loan is below its 
amortized cost a valuation allowance is established for the difference.

There may be times when loans have been classified as held for sale and cannot be sold or the Company has the intent 
and ability to hold the loan for the foreseeable future or to maturity and the loans are transferred to held for investment. For 
loans transferred from the lower of cost or fair value held for sale classification, any valuation allowance is reversed upon 
transfer and the loan is transferred at amortized cost and is then assessed for any potential allowance for credit losses (“ACL”). 

Allowance for Credit Losses. The ACL is a valuation account that offsets the amortized cost basis of loans and net 
investment in leases. Under ASC 326, amortized cost is the basis on which the ACL is determined. Amortized cost is principal 
outstanding, net of any purchase premiums and discounts and net of any deferred loan fees and costs. 

Credit losses are charged off when the Company believes that collectability of at least some portion of outstanding 
principal is unlikely. These charge-offs are recorded as a reversal, thereby reducing, the allowance for credit losses. Recoveries 
on loans previously charged off are recorded as an increase to the allowance for credit losses. The allowance for credit losses is 
maintained at a level needed to absorb expected credit losses over the contractual life, considering the effects of prepayments, of 
the loan portfolio as of the reporting date. Determining the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses is complex and requires 
judgment by Management about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. As such, a future assessment of current 
conditions may require material adjustments to the allowance.

The Company’s process for determining expected life-time credit losses entails a portfolio, model-based approach 
utilizing loan level detail and requires consideration of a broad range of relevant information relating to historical loss 
experience, current economic conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. 

A credit loss is estimated for all loans. Consequently, the Company stratifies the full loan population into segments 
sharing similar characteristics to perform the evaluation of the credit loss collectively. 

The Company defines a loan portfolio segment as the level at which the Company develops a systematic methodology 
to determine the allowance, which is generally based on similar risk attributes, including underlying collateral, as well as the 
Company’s methods for monitoring credit risk and other factors. The Company categorizes the loan portfolio into six segments: 
Single Family - Mortgage & Warehouse, Multifamily and Commercial Mortgage, Commercial Real Estate, including 
construction lending, Commercial & Industrial - Non Real Estate, Auto & Consumer and Other. For further information on 
these loan portfolio segments, see “Loans” herein.

The method for estimating expected life-time credit losses includes, among other things, the following main 
components: 1) The use of a probability of default (“PD”)/loss given default (“LGD”) model; 2) defining a number of economic 
scenarios across the benign to adverse spectrum; 3) a reasonable forecast period of 24 months for all loan segments; and 4) a 
reversion period of 12 months using a linear transition to historical loss rates for each loan pool. After the reversion period, the 
historical loss rate is applied over the remaining contractual life of loan. Reasonable forecast periods and reversion periods are 
subject to periodic review and may be adjusted based on the Company’s view of current economic conditions. The results of the 
estimate are calculated for several scenarios across the benign to adverse spectrum for each of the Company’s loan portfolio 
segments. The weighting of scenarios is subject to periodic review and may be adjusted based on the Company’s view of current 
economic conditions.
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Given the inherent limitations of a solely quantitative model, qualitative adjustments are included to arrive at the 
ending calculated loss amount in order to account for data points not captured from quantitative inputs alone. 

Qualitative criteria we consider includes, among other things, the following:
• Regulatory and Legal - matters that may impact the timeliness and/or amounts of repayments;
• Concentration - portfolio composition and loan concentration;
• Collateral Dependency - changes in collateral values;
• Lending/Underwriting Standards - current lending policies and the effects of any new policies;
• Nature and Volume - loan production volume and mix;
• Macroeconomic Environment - considerations not reflected in the data utilized in the model; and
• Loan Trends - credit performance trends, including a borrower’s financial condition and credit rating.

Specifically, Management reviews whether the model reflects the appropriate level of PD and LGD, given the 
macroeconomic forecasts used as compared to the Company’s loan portfolio. Management determines the adequacy of the 
allowance for credit losses based on reviews of individual loans, recent loss experience, current economic conditions, 
expectations about future economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the various categories of loans, including loan-to-value 
ratios, and other pertinent factors. If, based on Management’s evaluation, macroeconomic factors do not capture Management’s 
assumption regarding collateral values (LGD) and defaults (PD), Management will apply additional qualitative overlays to the 
loan portfolio. This evaluation is inherently subjective and requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more 
information becomes available. 

Accrued Interest. Accrued interest receivable is excluded from amortized cost and is presented separately in “Other 
Assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Additionally, the Company does not estimate an allowance for credit losses on 
accrued interest receivable as the Company has a policy to charge off accrued interest deemed uncollectible in a timely manner. 
When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, which occurs when a borrower becomes delinquent by 90 days, interest previously 
accrued but not collected is reversed against current period interest income.

Individually Assessed Loans. Credit loss is estimated for any individual loan on a collective basis, unless an individual 
loan’s credit characteristics has deteriorated below a range of the overall group, in which case the loan would then be 
individually assessed. Individually assessed loans are measured for credit loss based on present value of future expected cash 
flows, discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate or the fair value of the collateral, less estimated selling costs, if the loan is 
collateral-dependent.

Loan Commitments. Loans commitments not unconditionally cancellable are subject to an estimate of credit loss under 
a current expected credit loss model. The Company’s process for determining the estimate of credit loss on loan commitments is 
the same as it is on loans. Refer to detail of Allowance on Credit Losses above. Allowance on Credit Losses of off-balance sheet 
commitments is presented separately in “Accounts payable and other liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Leases - Lessee Arrangements. The Company leases office space under operating lease agreements scheduled to 
expire at various dates. The Company accounts for leases under ASC 842, Leases. At lease commencement, lease liabilities are 
recognized based on the present value of the remaining lease payments and discounted using the Company’s incremental 
borrowing rate, which is a blended rate comprised of the FHLB term rate and the Company’s subordinated debt rate. Right-of-
use assets initially equal the lease liability, adjusted for any lease payments made prior to lease commencement and for any lease 
incentives. Right-of-use assets are reported in “Other assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the related lease liabilities 
are reported in “Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities.” All leases are recorded on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is recorded in “Occupancy and equipment” 
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Mortgage Servicing Rights. Mortgage servicing assets are recognized when rights are retained upon sale of loans. The 
Company measures its servicing asset using the fair value method. Under the fair value method, the servicing rights are included 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. The changes in fair value are reported in earnings in the period in which the 
changes occur and the adjustments are included in “Mortgage banking income,” a component of non-interest income in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Derivatives. Commitments to fund mortgage loans (interest rate locks) to be sold into the secondary market and 
forward commitments for the future delivery of these mortgage loans are accounted for as free standing derivatives. Fair values 
of these mortgage derivatives are estimated based on changes in mortgage interest rates from the date the interest on the loan is 
locked. The Company enters into forward commitments for the future delivery of mortgage loans when interest rate locks are 
entered into, in order to economically hedge the change in interest rates resulting from its commitments to fund the loans. 
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Changes in the fair values of these derivatives are included in “Mortgage banking income” on the Consolidated Statements of 
Income. 

The Company also makes markets in interest rate swap and cap derivatives to facilitate customer demand. The 
Company enters into offsetting derivative transactions to offset its interest rate risk associated with this customer transaction 
activity. Changes in the fair values of these derivatives, and related fees, are included in “Banking and service fees” on the 
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Furniture, Equipment and Software. Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization 
computed primarily using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are three to seven years 
and recorded within “Depreciation and amortization”, which is a component of non-interest expense on the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the assets’ useful lives or the lease term. 
Furniture, equipment and software are included in “Other assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using the asset and liability method. 
Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the tax effects of the temporary differences 
between the book and tax bases of the various assets and liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and gives current 
recognition to changes in tax rates and laws. The Company records a valuation allowance when management believes it is more 
likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. An income tax position will be recognized as a benefit only if it is 
more likely than not that it will be sustained upon examination by the Internal Revenue Service, based upon its technical merits. 
Once that status is met, the amount recorded will be the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being 
realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax 
expense. 

Securities Borrowed and Securities Loaned. Securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions are reported as 
collateralized financings and recorded at the amount of cash collateral advanced or received. Securities borrowed transactions 
require the Company to deposit cash with the lender. With respect to securities loaned, the Company receives collateral in the 
form of cash in an amount in excess of the fair value of securities loaned. The Company monitors the fair value of securities 
borrowed and loaned on a daily basis, with additional collateral obtained or refunded, as necessary.

Customer, Broker-Dealer and Clearing Receivables and Payables. Customer, broker-dealer and clearing receivables 
include receivables of the Company’s broker-dealer subsidiaries, which represent amounts due on cash and margin transactions 
and are generally collateralized by securities owned by clients. These receivables primarily consist of floating-rate loans 
collateralized by customer-owned securities. The receivables are reported at their outstanding principal balance net of allowance 
for doubtful accounts. When a receivable is considered to be impaired, and impairment charge is recorded based on the current 
estimate of credit loss for the receivable, which is measured based on current prices from independent sources, such as listed 
market prices or broker-dealer price quotations. Securities owned by customers, including those that collateralize margin or 
other similar transactions, are not reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Also included in these accounts are receivables 
and payables from brokers and dealers and clearing organizations as well as securities failed to deliver and receive.

Business Combinations. Mergers and acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. 
Assets and liabilities acquired and assumed are recorded at their fair values as of the date of the transaction. The excess of 
purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. Significant estimates and 
judgments are involved in the fair valuation and purchase price allocation process. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value 
of the net assets acquired. Other intangible assets represent purchased assets that lack physical substance but can be 
distinguished from goodwill because of contractual or other legal rights. Intangible assets that have finite lives, such as core 
deposit intangibles, are amortized over their estimated useful lives and subject to periodic impairment testing. Intangible assets 
(other than goodwill) are amortized to “Depreciation and amortization,” a component of non-interest expense on the 
Consolidated Statements of Income, using accelerated or straight-line methods over their respective estimated useful lives.

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing at the reporting unit level, which is conducted at least annually. The 
Company performs impairment testing during the third quarter of each year or when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the assets might be impaired.

The Company performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a 
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing updated qualitative factors, the Company determines it is more 
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, it performs a quantitative goodwill 
impairment test. Determining the fair value of a reporting unit is judgmental and often involves the use of significant estimates 
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and assumptions. Similarly, estimates and assumptions are used in determining the fair value of other intangible assets. 
Estimates of fair value are primarily determined using discounted cash flows, market comparisons and recent transactions. 
These approaches use significant estimates and assumptions including projected future cash flows, discount rates reflecting the 
market rate of return, projected growth rates and determination and evaluation of appropriate market comparable. 

Earnings per Common Share. Earnings per common share (“EPS”) are presented under two formats: basic EPS and 
diluted EPS. Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net income attributable to common stock (net income after deducting 
dividends on preferred stock) by the sum of the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year and 
the unvested average of participating restricted stock units (“RSU”). Diluted EPS is computed by dividing the sum of net 
income attributable to common stock and dividends on diluted preferred stock by the sum of the weighted-average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year and the impact of dilutive potential common shares, such as nonparticipating RSUs 
and convertible preferred stock.

The Company accounts for unvested stock-based compensation awards containing non-forfeitable rights to dividends 
or dividend equivalents (collectively, “dividends”) as participating securities and includes the awards in the EPS calculation 
using the two-class method. Under the two class method, all earnings (distributed and undistributed) are allocated to each class 
of common stock and participating securities, based on their respective rights to receive dividends. Under the Amended and 
Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”), RSUs have no stockholder rights, meaning they are not entitled to 
dividends and are considered nonparticipating. These nonparticipating RSUs are not included in the basic earnings per common 
share calculation and are included in the diluted earnings per common share calculation using the treasury stock method.

Stock-Based Compensation. Compensation cost is recognized for RSU awards issued to employees, based on the fair 
value of these awards at the date of grant. Market price of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant is used for RSU 
awards. The Company has certain share awards that include market conditions that affect vesting. The fair value of these awards 
is estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation. Compensation cost is recognized over the required service period, generally 
defined as the vesting period. For awards with only a service condition that have a graded vesting schedule, compensation cost 
is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. For awards that contain a market 
condition and have a graded vesting schedule compensation cost is recognized using an accelerated attribution method over the 
requisite service period for the awards. The Company accounts for forfeitures by recognizing forfeitures when they occur.

Stock of Regulatory Agencies. The Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) system. Members 
are required to own a certain amount of FHLB stock based on the level of borrowings and other factors. FHLB stock is carried 
at cost, classified as a restricted security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value. 
Axos Securities, LLC is a member of the Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”), a financial services company 
providing clearing and settlement services to the financial markets. Members are required to own a certain amount of DTCC 
stock based on the clearing levels and other factors. DTCC stock is carried at fair value, classified as a restricted security, and 
periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value.

Low Income Housing Tax Credits (“LIHTC”). The Company invests as a limited partner in LIHTC partnerships that 
operate qualified affordable housing projects which generate tax benefits for investors through the realization of tax credits and 
deductions, which may be subject to recapture by taxing authorities if compliance requirements are not met. We amortize the 
investment in proportion to the allocated tax benefits using the proportional amortization method of accounting and record such 
benefits net of investment amortization in income taxes on the consolidated statements of income. The investment is included 
within “Other assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance. The Bank has purchased life insurance policies on certain key executives. 
Bank owned life insurance is recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance contract at the balance sheet date, 
which is the cash surrender value adjusted for other amounts due that are probable at settlement. Cash surrender value of life 
insurance is included in the other assets line on the consolidated balance sheet. Changes to the cash surrender value are recorded 
within “Banking and service fees”, which is a component of non-interest income on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Comprehensive Income. Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income. Other 
comprehensive income includes unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale, which are also recognized as 
separate components of equity. The method for determining the cost basis of securities sold or reclassified out of other 
comprehensive income into earnings is based on the value of the specific security and any previously recognized gain or loss 
associated with that specific security.

Loss Contingencies. The Company records an accrual for a loss contingency when the estimated loss is both probable 
and reasonably estimated.
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New Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted as of June 30, 2023

The Financial Accounting Standards Board has issued three Accounting Standards Updates (“ASUs”) (2020-04, 
2021-04 and 2022-06) all of which provide guidance to alleviate the burden in accounting for reference rate reform by allowing 
certain expedients and exceptions in applying generally accepted accounting principles to contracts, hedging relationships, and 
other transactions impacted by reference rate reform. The provisions apply only to those transactions that reference London 
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or another reference rate expected to be discontinued due to reference rate reform. Adoption 
of the provisions are optional and are effective from March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2024. The Company adopted these 
ASUs on July 1, 2023 and there was no impact on its financial condition or results of operations upon adoption.

In March 2022, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2022-02 which eliminates the 
accounting guidance for troubled debt restructurings by creditors that have adopted the current expected credit losses (“CECL”) 
model and enhance the disclosure requirements for loan refinancings and restructurings made with borrowers experiencing 
financial difficulty. In addition, the amendments require a public business entity to disclose current-period gross write-offs for 
financing receivables and net investment in leases by year of origination in the vintage disclosures. The Company adopted this 
ASU on July 1, 2023 and there was no impact on its financial condition or results of operations upon adoption. The Company 
will be required to update certain disclosures around financing receivables and net investment in leases beginning in the first 
quarter of fiscal year 2024.
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3. FAIR VALUE

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the 
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the 
measurement date. ASC Topic 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels 
of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1:
 
Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the 
ability to access as of the measurement date.

Level 2:

 

Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted 
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by 
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. Level 2 assets include 
securities with quoted prices that are traded less frequently than exchange-traded instruments and whose 
value is determined using a pricing model with inputs that are observable in the market or can be derived 
principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3:

 

Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair 
value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities include financial instruments whose value is 
determined using pricing models such as discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as 
well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment 
or estimation.

When available, the Company generally uses quoted market prices to determine fair value. In some cases where a 
market price is available, the Company will make use of acceptable practical expedients (such as matrix pricing) to calculate 
fair value, in which case the items are classified in Level 2.

The Company considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible. The frequency of 
transactions, the size of the bid-ask spread and the nature of the participants are some of the factors the Company uses to help 
determine whether a market is active and orderly or inactive and not orderly. Price quotes based upon transactions that are not 
orderly are not considered to be indicative of fair value and are given little, if any, weight in measuring fair value.

If quoted market prices are not available, fair value is based upon internally developed valuation techniques that use, 
where possible, current market-based or independently sourced market parameters, such as interest rates, credit spreads, 
housing value forecasts, etc. Items valued using such internally generated valuation techniques are classified according to the 
lowest level input or value driver that is significant to the valuation. Thus, an item may be classified in Level 3 even though 
there may be some significant inputs that are readily observable.

The following section describes the valuation methodologies used by the Company to measure various financial 
instruments at fair value, including an indication of the level in the fair-value hierarchy in which each instrument is generally 
classified:

Securities—trading and available-for-sale. Trading and Available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair value. 
Available-for-sale securities consist of mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”) issued by U.S. government-backed, including 
Ginnie Mae, or government-sponsored enterprises including Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (“agency”), MBS issued by non-
agencies and municipal securities. Fair value for agency securities and municipal securities are generally based on quoted 
market prices of similar securities used to form a dealer quote or a pricing matrix. These securities are classified in Level 2. 
There continues to be significant illiquidity in the market for MBS issued by non-agencies, impacting the availability and 
reliability of transparent pricing. As orderly quoted market prices are not available, the Level 3 fair values for these securities 
are determined by the Company utilizing industry-standard tools to calculate the net present value of the expected cash flows 
available to the securities from the underlying mortgage assets. The Company computes Level 3 fair values for each non-
agency MBS in the same manner (as described below) whether available-for-sale or held-to-maturity.

To determine the performance of the underlying mortgage loan pools, the Company estimates prepayments, defaults, 
and loss severities based on a number of macroeconomic factors, including housing price changes, unemployment rates, interest 
rates and borrower attributes such as credit score and loan documentation at the time of origination. The Company inputs for 
each security a projection of monthly default rates, loss severity rates and voluntary prepayment rates for the underlying 
mortgages for the remaining life of the security to determine the expected cash flows. The projections of default rates are 
derived by the Company from the historic default rate observed in the pool of loans collateralizing the security, increased by 
and decreased by the forecasted increase or decrease in the national unemployment rate. The projections of loss severity rates 
are derived by the Company from the historic loss severity rate observed in the pool of loans, increased by or decreased by the 
forecasted increase or decrease in the national home price index (“HPI”). The largest factors influencing the Company’s 
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modeling of the monthly default rate are unemployment and the HPI, as a strong correlation exists. The most updated 
unemployment rate reported in June 2023 was 3.6%. Consensus estimates for unemployment are that the rate will increase. The 
Company agrees with consensus estimates and thus is projecting higher monthly default rates. The Company projects that 
severities will continue to improve as HPI improves.

To determine the discount rates used to compute the present value of the expected cash flows for these non-agency 
MBS securities, the Company separates the securities by the borrower characteristics in the underlying pool. Specifically, 
“prime” securities generally have borrowers with higher FICO scores and better documentation of income. “Alt-A” securities 
generally have borrowers with a lower FICO and less documentation of income. “Pay-option ARMs” are Alt-A securities with 
borrowers that tend to pay the least amount of principal (or increase their loan balance through negative amortization). The 
Company calculates separate discount rates for prime, Alt-A and Pay-option ARM non-agency MBS securities using market-
participant assumptions for risk, capital and return on equity. The default rates and the severities are projected for every non-
agency MBS security held by the Company and will vary monthly based upon the actual performance of the security and the 
macroeconomic factors discussed above. Based upon the actual performance of the underlying collateral, the securities’ credit 
enhancement will be impacted. The range of existing credit enhancement is from 0.0% to 93.9%, with a weighted-average 
credit enhancement 20.9%. The Company applies its discount rates to the projected monthly cash flows, which already reflect 
the full impact of all forecasted losses using the assumptions described above. When calculating present value of the expected 
cash flows at June 30, 2023, the Company computed its discount rates as a spread between 261 and 750 basis points over the 
LIBOR Index using the LIBOR forward curve.

The Company’s estimate of fair value for non-agency securities using Level 3 pricing is highly subjective and is based 
on the Company’s estimate of voluntary prepayments, default rates, severities and discount margins, which are forecasted 
monthly over the remaining life of each security. Changes in one or more of these assumptions can cause a significant change in 
the estimated fair value. For further details see the table later in this note that summarizes quantitative information about level 3 
fair value measurements.

Loans Held for Sale. Loans held for sale at fair value are primarily single-family residential loans. The fair value of 
residential loans held for sale is determined by pricing for comparable assets or by existing forward sales commitment prices 
with investors. These loans held for sale are classified under Level 2.

Other Real Estate Owned and Repossessed Vehicles. Fair values are generally based on third party appraisals of the 
property, resulting in a Level 3 classification. In cases where the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, less costs to sell, an 
impairment loss is recognized.

Mortgage Servicing Rights. Fair value is derived from market-driven valuation changes as well as modeled 
amortization involving the run-off of value that occurs due to the passage of time as individual loans are paid by borrowers. 
Market expectations about loan duration, and correspondingly the expected term of future servicing cash flows, may vary from 
time to time due to changes in expected prepayment activity, especially when interest rates rise or fall. Market expectations of 
increased loan prepayment speeds may negatively impact the fair value of the single family MSRs. Fair value is also dependent 
on the discount rate used in calculating present value, which is derived from observable market activity, market participants, 
and results in Level 3 classification. Management reviews and adjusts the discount rate on an ongoing basis. An increase in the 
discount rate would reduce the estimated fair value of the MSRs asset. 

Derivatives. The fair value of interest rate locks is estimated based on changes in to be announced (“TBA”) values 
which are based upon mortgage interest rates from the date the interest on the loan is locked, adjusted for items such as 
estimated fallout and costs to originate the loan. These are classified under level 2. 

The fair value of forward sale commitments is based upon prices in active secondary markets for identical securities or 
based on quoted market prices of similar assets used to form a dealer quote or a pricing matrix. If no such quoted price exists, 
the fair value of a commitment is determined by quoted prices for a similar commitment or commitments, adjusted for the 
specific attributes of each commitment. These are classified under level 2.

The fair value of interest rate swaps and caps entered into to facilitate customer transaction activity is based upon 
observable market forward rate curves. These are classified under Level 2.
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There were no nonaccrual loans without an allowance for credit losses as of June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022. There 
was no interest income recognized on non-accrual loans for the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

From time to time, the Company modifies loan terms temporarily for borrowers who are experiencing financial stress. 
These loans are performing and accruing and generally return to the original loan terms after the modification term expires. 
Approximately 1.77% of our nonaccrual loans at June 30, 2023 were considered troubled debt restructurings (“TDRs”), 
compared to 1.18% at June 30, 2022. Borrowers who make timely payments after TDRs are considered non-performing for at 
least six months. Generally, after six months of timely payments, those TDRs are reclassified from the nonaccrual loan category 
to performing and return to accrual status.

There was no amount in performing TDRs for each of the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022 and 2021. There was no 
interest recognized on loans that were TDRs for the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

Credit Quality Indicators. The Company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the 
ability of borrowers to service their debt such as: current financial information, historical payment experience, credit 
documentation, public information, and current economic trends. The Company analyzes loans individually by classifying the 
loans based on credit risk. The Company uses the following definitions for risk ratings.

Pass. Loans classified as pass are well protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or by the 
fair value of any underlying collateral, less cost to acquire and sell in a timely manner.

Special Mention. Loans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves management’s close 
attention. If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of 
the institution’s credit position at some future date.

Substandard. Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity 
of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any. Loans so classified have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that 
jeopardize the liquidation of the debt. They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the institution will sustain some loss 
if the deficiencies are not corrected.

Doubtful. Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, with the 
added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, 
conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable.

The Company reviews and grades loans following a continuous review process, featuring coverage of all loan types 
and business lines at least quarterly. Continuous reviewing provides more effective risk monitoring because it immediately tests 
for potential impacts caused by changes in personnel, policy, products or underwriting standards.
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Axos Clearing has a $190.0 million unsecured line of credit available for limited purpose borrowing, which includes 
$100 million from Axos Financial, Inc. As of June 30, 2023, there was $15.7 million outstanding on this credit facility after 
elimination of intercompany balances. This credit facility bears interest at rates based on the Federal Funds rate and is due upon 
demand. The unsecured line of credit requires Axos Clearing to operate in accordance of specific covenants surrounding capital and 
debt ratios. Axos Clearing was in compliance of all covenants as of June 30, 2023.

Subordinated Loans. The Company issued subordinated notes totaling $7.5 million on January 28, 2019, to the principal 
stockholders of Cor Securities Holdings, Inc. (“COR Securities”) in an equal principal amount, with a maturity of 15 months, to serve 
as the sole source of payment of indemnification obligations of the principal stockholders of COR Securities under the Merger 
Agreement. Interest accrues at a rate of 6.25% per annum. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, $0.1 million of subordinated 
loans were repaid. The Company is in the process of making an indemnification claim against the $7.4 million remaining.

Subordinated Notes. In September 2020, the Company completed the sale of $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of 
its 4.875% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Subordinated Notes due October 1, 2030 (the “2030 Notes”). The 2030 Notes mature on October 1, 
2030 and accrue interest at a fixed rate per annum equal to 4.875%, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each 
year, commencing on April 1, 2021. From and including October 1, 2025, to, but excluding October 1, 2030 or the date of early 
redemption, the 2030 Notes will bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to three-month term SOFR plus a spread of 476 basis 
points, payable quarterly in arrears on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on January 2026. The 2030 
Notes may be redeemed on or after October 1, 2025, which date may be extended at the Company’s discretion, at a redemption price 
equal to principal plus accrued and unpaid interest, subject to certain conditions. Fees and costs incurred in connection with the debt 
offering amortize to interest expense over the term of the 2030 Notes.

In February 2022, the Company completed the sale of $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.00% Fixed-to-
Floating Rate Subordinated Notes (the “2032 Notes”). The 2032 Notes are obligations only of Axos Financial, Inc. The 2032 Notes 
mature on March 1, 2032 and accrue interest at a fixed rate per annum equal to 4.00%, payable semi-annually in arrears on March 1 
and September 1 of each year, commencing on September 1, 2022. From and including March 1, 2027, to, but excluding March 1, 
2032 or the date of early redemption, the 2032 Notes will bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to three-month term SOFR 
plus a spread of 227 basis points, payable quarterly in arrears on March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 of each year, 
commencing on June 1, 2027. The 2032 Notes may be redeemed on or after March 1, 2027, which date may be extended at the 
Company’s discretion, at a redemption price equal to principal plus accrued and unpaid interest, subject to certain conditions. Fees and 
costs incurred in connection with the debt offering amortize to interest expense over the term of the 2032 Notes.

Junior Subordinated Debentures. On December 13, 2004, the Company entered into an agreement to form an 
unconsolidated trust which issued $5.0 million of trust preferred securities in a transaction that closed on December 16, 2004. The net 
proceeds from the offering were used to purchase $5.2 million of junior subordinated debentures (“Debentures”) of the Company with 
a stated maturity date of February 23, 2035. The Debentures are the sole assets of the trust. The trust preferred securities are 
mandatorily redeemable upon maturity, or upon earlier redemption as provided in the indenture. The Company has the right to redeem 
the Debentures in whole (but not in part) on or after specific dates, at a redemption price specified in the indenture plus any accrued 
but unpaid interest through the redemption date. Prior to June 30, 2023, interest accrued at the rate of three-month LIBOR plus 2.4% 
for a rate of 7.79% as of June 30, 2023, with interest paid quarterly. Following June 30, 2023, interest accrues at three-month term 
SOFR plus 0.26161%.

The Bank has the ability to borrow short-term from the FRBSF Discount Window. At June 30, 2023 and 2022 there were no 
amounts outstanding and the available borrowings from this source were $2,747.1 million and $2,823.5 million, respectively. The 
2023 available borrowings were collateralized by certain loans. The Bank has additional unencumbered collateral that could be 
pledged to the FRBSF Discount Window to increase borrowing liquidity.

As of June 30, 2023, the Bank has federal funds lines of credit with four major banks totaling $225.0 million. The Bank had 
no outstanding balances on its lines of credit at June 30, 2023 or June 30, 2022.
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15. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock Repurchases. On August 6, 2019 the Company announced a program to repurchase up to $100 million of its 
common stock and on April 27, 2023, the Company announced a program to repurchase up to $100 million of its common stock. The 
new share repurchase authorization is in addition to the existing share repurchase plan announced on August 6, 2019. The Company 
may repurchase shares on the open market or through privately negotiated transactions at times and prices considered appropriate, at 
the discretion of the Company, and subject to its assessment of alternative uses of capital, stock trading price, general market 
conditions and regulatory factors. The repurchase program does not obligate the Company to acquire any specific number of shares. 
The share repurchase program will continue in effect until terminated by the Board. Under the August 6, 2019 authorization, the 
Company repurchased a total of $96.3 million, or 3,721,014 common shares at an average price of $25.89 per share and there remains 
$3.7 million under the plan. During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Company repurchased a total of $49.3 million, 
or 1,321,161 common shares at an average price of $37.28 per share. The Company did not repurchase common stock during the year 
ended June 30, 2022. The Company accounts for treasury stock using the cost method as a reduction of stockholders’ equity in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Preferred Stock. The Company redeemed for cash all 515 outstanding shares of Series A-6% Cumulative Nonparticipating 
Perpetual Preferred Stock on October 30, 2020, at the face value $10,000 liquidation price per share plus accrued dividends. Dividends 
totaling $0.1 million were declared in the year ended June 30, 2021 prior to redemption. 

16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has an equity incentive plan, the 2014 Plan, which provides for the granting of non-qualified and incentive 
stock options, restricted stock and RSUs, stock appreciation rights and other awards to employees, directors and consultants. The Plan 
is designed to encourage selected employees and directors to improve operations and increase profits, and to accept or continue 
employment or association with the Company through participation in the growth in the value of the common stock. RSUs have a 
grant price equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the award date. RSUs granted generally vest over a three-
year period based on service, with 33% of the underlying shares vesting on each annual anniversary of the award.

2014 Plan. In October 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders, respectively, approved the 2014 Plan, as 
amended and restated. The number of shares authorized for issuance pursuant to awards under the 2014 Plan is 5,680,000, less RSU 
awards granted, plus any RSUs that become available upon the forfeiture, expiration, cancellation or settlement in cash awards 
outstanding under the 2014 Plan. At June 30, 2023, 1,426,865 shares of common stock remained available for issuance pursuant to 
grant awards under the 2014 Plan.

Effective July 1, 2017 the Company entered into an employment agreement with its Chief Executive Officer (the 
“Agreement”) that authorizes an award of RSUs (the “RSU award”). The RSU award is an equity-based award and carries a service 
condition and a market condition that incorporates a measurement of the Company’s total stock return to stockholders in comparison 
to the total stock return of the ABA Nasdaq Community Bank Index. The accounting grant date of the RSU award is July 1, 2017 and 
expensing of the RSU award began on this date at the fair value measurement amount as determined by the Company’s valuation 
process. The Company utilized a Monte Carlo simulation to estimate the value of path-dependent options and determined the fair 
value using an expected return based on the 5-year US Treasury constant maturity rate, an equity volatility based on 6-month and 1-
year historical daily trading history, market capitalization, and stock price for the RSU award. On July 1, 2017, the estimated fair value 
of the RSU award was $20.5 million, which vests in five tranches over a total period of nine years.

Effective each of January 1, 2023 (the “2023 Award”) and 2022 (the “2022 Award”), the Agreement automatically renewed 
for one additional fiscal year with the accounting grant date the same as the renewal date of the respective award. For the 2023 Award 
and 2022 Award, the Company utilized a Monte Carlo simulation with key inputs of an expected return on the average of the 1 and 2 
year U.S. Treasury constant maturity rate, an equity volatility based on 1.5 year historical daily trading history, market capitalization, 
and stock price. The estimated fair values for the 2023 Award and 2022 Award were $5.2 million and $8.8 million, respectively, on 
each award’s grant date. The actual award will be determined by the actual performance of the Company’s total stock return in 
comparison to the total stock return of the ABA Nasdaq Community Bank Index in the respective periods.

As of June 30, 2023, unrecognized compensation expense to be recognized over the remaining five years related to the 
Agreement and subsequent renewals is $10.9 million and is reflected in the table below.
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or other broker is unable to fulfill its contracted obligations and Axos Clearing has to purchase or sell the financial instrument 
underlying the contract at a loss. Axos Clearing’s clearing agreements with broker-dealers for which it provides clearing services 
requires them to indemnify Axos Clearing if customers fail to satisfy their contractual obligation. As of June 30, 2023, non-customer 
and customer margin securities of approximately $260.1 million and stock borrowings of approximately $134.3 million were available 
to the Company to utilize as collateral on various borrowings or for other purposes. The Company utilized $159.8 million of these 
available securities as collateral for securities loaned, $114.2 million for bank loans, and $23.4 million for OCC margin requirements.

Litigation. A consolidated derivative action, In re BofI Holding, Inc., Case No. 15cv2722 GPC (KSC), is pending before the 
United States District Court for the Southern District of California (the “Derivative Action”). The complaint in the Derivative Action 
sets forth allegations made in a related employment action, Erhart v. BofI Holding Inc., No. 15cv2287 BAS (NLS) (S.D. Cal.) (the 
“Employment Action”) brought by a former employee of the Company. The Derivative Action plaintiff seeks damages on behalf of 
the Company should an adverse judgment be entered in the Employment Action, and also seeks damages on behalf of the Company in 
connection with a now settled securities class action that was also based upon allegations made in the Employment Action and settled 
within available insurance coverage without attribution of wrongdoing to the Company, its management, or its directors. The 
Derivative Action has been stayed pending resolution of the Employment Action.

On October 26, 2022, a jury verdict was reached in the case of MUFG Union Bank, N.A. v. Axos Bank, et al, awarding 
damages to Union Bank. Judgment on such verdict was initially entered on June 5, 2023, and a corrected judgment was entered on 
June 20, 2023. The Company filed a Notice of Appeal on July 6, 2023, and the plaintiff filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal on July 20, 
2023. The Company recorded a $16 million accrued expense in “Accounts payable and other liabilities” on the condensed 
consolidated balance sheet and in “General and administrative expense” on the condensed consolidated statement of income as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2023, respectively. Given the uncertainty of the appellate process and other factors that are unknown or 
currently unquantifiable, the Company has maintained its accrual at June 30, 2023.

In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of each legal action, particularly since claimants seek substantial 
or indeterminate damages, it is not possible to reasonably predict or estimate the eventual loss or range of loss, if any, related to each 
legal action, unless otherwise disclosed above.

F-47



F-48



F-49



F-50



F-51



F-52



F-53



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Axos Financial, Inc.
Las Vegas, Nevada

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 ASR (No. 333-253797) and 
Form S-8 (Nos. 333-260815, 333-235228, 333-199691 and 333-124702) of Axos Financial, Inc. of our reports dated August 29, 
2023, relating to the consolidated financial statements, and the effectiveness of Axos Financial, Inc.’s internal control over 
financial reporting, which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

/s/ BDO USA, P.A.
San Diego, California

August 29, 2023











[This page intentionally left blank] 



Executive Officers

GREGORY GARRABRANTS 
President and 
Chief Executive Officer

ESHEL BAR-ADON  
Executive Vice President  
Strategic Partnerships and 
Chief Legal Officer

THOMAS CONSTANTINE 
Executive Vice President 
Chief Credit Officer

DAVID CROW  
Executive Vice President 
Head of Clearing 

RAYMOND MATSUMOTO  
Executive Vice President 
Chief Operating Officer

ANDREW J. MICHELETTI  
Executive Vice President 
Finance 

DAVID PARK 
Executive Vice President   
Commercial Banking and 
Treasury Management 

BRIAN SWANSON 
Executive Vice President 
Head of Consumer Bank

CANDACE THIELE 
Executive Vice President 
Chief Administrative Officer

JOHN TOLLA 
Executive Vice President 
Chief Risk Officer

DERRICK K. WALSH 
Executive Vice President 
Chief Financial Officer

Board  
of Directors 

PAUL J. GRINBERG 
Chairman

NICHOLAS A. MOSICH 
Vice Chairman

JAMES S. ARGALAS 

TAMARA N. BOHLIG

STEFANI D. CARTER 

JAMES J. COURT

UZAIR DADA 

GREGORY GARRABRANTS 

EDWARD J. RATINOFF

ROQUE A. SANTI

Corporate  
Headquarters 

AXOS FINANCIAL, INC. 
9205 West Russell Road 
Suite 400 
Las Vegas, NV 89148  
www.axosfinancial.com

Corporate 
Secretary 

ANGELA LOPEZ 
Corporate Secretary,  
Vice President Corporate 
Governance 
(858) 704-6225
alopez@axosfinancial.com

Investor 
Relations

JOHNNY LAI  
Senior Vice President,  
Corporate Development 
and Investor Relations 
(858) 649-2218
jlai@axosfinancial.com

Transfer 
Agent 

COMPUTERSHARE  

INVESTOR  

SERVICES 
150 Royall Street , Suite 101 
Canton, MA 02021  
(800) 962-4284
www-computershare.com/investor

Independent 
Registered  
Public Accounting 
Firm

BDO USA, P.A. 
San Diego, California



9205 WEST RUSSELL ROAD,  

SUITE 400,  

LAS VEGAS, NV 89148 

www.axosf inancial.com




